PROPOSED AGENDA

Meeting of the Town of Biltmore Forest
Board of Commissioners

To be held Tuesday, February 10, 2026 at 4:30 p.m.

. Pledge of Allegiance

. Roll Call

Mayor George F. Goosmann, 111
Commissioner Doris P. Loomis
Commissioner Drew Stephens
Commissioner Allan Tarleton

. Consent Agenda

1.
2.

Approval of Agenda
Approval of January 13, 2026 Minutes

. Public Comment

. Departmental Reports

1. Chief of Skyland Fire and Rescue
2. Chief of Police Chris Beddingfield
3. Public Works Director Harry Buckner
4. Town Planner Tony Williams
5. Town Manager Jonathan Kanipe
. Board Member Reports
. Presentations
1. Mr. Greg Jennings, Jennings Environmental — Stream Restoration Master Plan

. New Business

1. Consideration of Resolution 2026-01 — A Resolution Adopting the Town of
Biltmore Forest Stream Restoration Master Plan
2. Consideration of Approval for Town Manager to Apply for Grant Opportunities
Related to the Stream Restoration Master Plan
3. Review Citizen Request regarding Off-Leash Dog Ordinance
4. Streetlight System Evaluation
Adjourn

1 of 56


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82228455470?pwd=SG9WU0FwUlFSdGZveS95b3pLTUlHdz09

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE MAYOR AND THE TOWN
COMMISSIONERS OF BILTMORE FOREST HELD JANUARY 13th, 2025

Be it remembered by those that follow these proceedings that the Governing Board of

the Town of Biltmore Forest met and conducted the following business:

Roll call taken by the Clerk:

Mayor George F. Goosmann, III, present
Commissioner Doris P. Loomis, present
Commissioner Allan Tarleton, present

Commissioner Drew Stephens, present

Mr. Jonathan Kanipe, the Town Manager, was present. The Town Attorney, Billy Clarke,

was also present.

Mayor Goosmann called the meeting to order at 4:30 pm.

The Pledge of Allegiance was conducted.

CONSENT AGENDA

Commissioner Loomis made a motion to approve the consent agenda and the minutes
from December 9th, 2025. Commissioner Stephens seconded the motion and was unanimously

approved.

PUBLIC COMMENT

There was no public comment.

2 of 56



DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS

Chief of Skyland Fire and Rescue Chief Trevor Lance presented the December 2025
report, noting a total of 16 calls for the month. Chief Llance explained that one building fire was
related to the golf course cart storage fire that had been discussed in the previous month's meeting.
There was also a mobile home fire outside of Town limits that Skyland crews responded to as

mutual aid.

Chief Lance mentioned their team enjoyed providing Santa Claus escorts throughout the
town on Christmas Eve, explaining that they actually had four Santas traveling different routes to
maximize coverage. He also provided a follow-up on last month's fire, indicating that the fire

marshal believes it was likely caused by a faulty lithium battery that had been charging.

For safety awareness, he reminded everyone to be careful of black ice during the winter

months, noting the hazards it presents both for driving and walking.

Chief Beddingtield gave the reported for the Police Department. Chief reported that calls
for service remained in the average 700 range for December. He also highlighted several
community service activities including a clothing drive for the Blessing Barn in Swannanoa and

partnering with Walmart for a toy drive benefiting the Black Mountain Children's Home.

Chief Beddingfield mentioned that one police vehicle had sustained approximately

$10,000 in damage from being struck by a deer.

Next, Chief Beddingfield presented the department's formal 2025 annual report, which
included sections on awards and recognition, mission statement, his work with the Chiefs
Association, the department's organizational chart, and their accreditation with the North
Carolina League of Municipalities. The report also detailed community involvement, training
efforts, and educational achievements within the department. He specifically recognized
Communications Director Ms. Aslyne Tate for completing her master's degree summa cum
laude and Officer Jim Robinson for making the Chancellor's List at Western Carolina University

while working on his bachelor's degree.

3 of 56



He also noted that the annual report would be published on the police app and the

Town’s website for public access.

Mr. Harry Buckner gave the report for the Public Works Department. Mr. Buckner
reported that December was a slower month due to holidays. He highlighted several ongoing
projects and said the street light repairs were underway with a new electrical contractor,

American Electric, focusing on four areas requiring significant repairs.

In response to Commissioner Tarleton's concern about a streetlight outage at
Southwood and Vanderbilt, Mr. Buckner explained he had identified significant lightning damage
to two trees in that area, which likely blew the fuses to the lamp. Mr. Buckner contacted Duke

Energy and they will be removing the damaged Town-owned tree.

Leaf collection season ended, with fewer leaves than typical years. Regular brush pickup
would resume on Thursday, starting from the north end. He thanked the Biltmore Estate for
allowing the Town to dispose of leaves on their property, where they are recycled into leaf mold,

saving the Town considerable travel time and tip fees.

Guardrail replacements were completed at the intersection of Hilltop Road and
Eastwood Road, as well as wooden guardrails along Greenwood Place and Arboretum. Upon

inspection, the wooden guardrails were found to be significantly deteriorated and were replaced

to DOT standards.

Mr. Tony Williams gave the Town Planner report and said he had 102 land use
conferences for December, 30 plans reviewed, one complaint received and it was resolved, two
cases heard by the Board of Adjustment, two Zoning Permits issued, and one Zoning Clearance

letter.

Mr. Williams also addressed the ongoing issue of delineators (spikes or posts) being
placed in rights-of-way by residents trying to restore grass or prevent damage during
construction. The Town plans to ask residents to remove these once grass is restored or
construction is complete, and to notify Town Hall before installing them in the future. The
approach will focus on friendly outreach, newsletter announcements, and Code Red

notifications.

4 of 56



Mr. Jonathan Kanipe gave the report for the Town Manager’s report. Mr. Kanipe said
the town facilities construction project is progressing, with schematic designs nearing
completion. The next steps involve financing approvals through the Local Government
Commission, with Public Hearings anticipated next month. Construction is tentatively scheduled

to begin in September or October.

Mr. Kanipe said the AT&T project that began in late December has encountered some
issues, including five struck gas lines. Work was temporarily halted during the New Year's week
but has resumed. Residents with concerns are being referred to the contact number on AT&T's

door hangers.

Regarding Ridgefield Place, Mr. Kanipe met with a property owner about land

acquisition needed for a cul-de-sac and is reviewing the owner's concerns before proceeding.

The Town's applications for OSBM grants for the Police Department construction
project and a new knuckle boom truck were not approved. Other grant recipients in

Buncombe County received funding for storm-damaged infrastructure.

FEMA reimbursements for hurricane recovery (approximately $4.65 million) are still
pending. After reaching out to Congressman Edwards' office, there has been increased attention
to the Town's submissions, though the delays relate partly to turnover among FEMA grant

administrators.

BOARD MEMBER REPORT

Commissioner Tarleton reported on the MSD (Metropolitan Sewerage District) meeting,
where the primary discussion concerned a $168 million solid disposal system to palletize solids.
He raised concerns about forever chemicals and was advised that the best approach was to
address chemicals upstream rather than after they reach MSD facilities. Commissioner Tarleton

expressed appreciation for how well the organization is run.

Commissioner Stephens mentioned his role on the French Broad River Metropolitan
Planning Organization board. He noted two major transportation developments: work starting
on 1-26 to cross the river near the former salvage station, and Buncombe County's pedestrian-
friendly program evaluating sites for sidewalk placement around congested stores and schools.

Mr. Kanipe added that Mr. Buckner is serving on that committee.

5 of 56



Mr. Tyler Van Hook — Duke Energy TUG Engagement Manager and Ms. Jennifer
Bennett, Government Community Relations Manager for Duke Energy, provided an overview
of how electricity is delivered to the Town. Ms. Bennett explained that power starts at generation
stations, moves through transmission lines (likened to highways), enters substations (like off-
ramps), and travels through distribution systems (side roads) to reach homes. She noted that

Biltmore Forest is served by the Rock Hill and Biltmore substations.

Ms. Bennett discussed the significant growth in energy needs projected for the next 15
years - eight times the growth rate of the prior 15 years. She outlined Duke's strategy to meet this
demand through a diverse mix of power sources including solar, battery storage, combined

cycles, and nuclear, and highlighted several battery projects underway in Buncombe County.

Mr. Tyler Van Hook, Lead Stakeholder Engagement Manager, then provided updates on
grid improvement work affecting Biltmore Forest. He explained that prior to Hurricane Helene,
Duke completed improvements to both substations serving the town, but the hurricane
necessitated significant rebuilding efforts. He showed images of the substation that feeds
Biltmore Forest filled with flood debris and explained how a temporary mobile substation was

deployed while rebuilding occurred.

Regarding the Targeted Underground (TUG) project, Mr. Van Hook explained this
initiative aims to reduce outages by moving overhead power lines underground, particularly in
hard-to-access areas like back lots. The southern phase of the project was completed between
2021-2023, affecting 205 customers. The larger northern phase, which will affect 316 customers,

is currently paused due to supply chain constraints exacerbated by Hurricane Helene.

Mr. Van Hook shared that the project would likely not restart until 2027 at the earliest,
possibly 2028, with completion expected to take 2-3 years after restarting. Mayor Goosmann
expressed concern about the extended delay, noting that the northern area experiences more
outages and was initially told the pause would be only one year. Mr. Van Hook acknowledged

this frustration and offered to meet with concerned residents if needed.

The project will involve working with individual property owners on easements,
installing equipment through directional boring to minimize disruption, and restoring
properties afterward. He assured that while transformers would be placed about one foot
outside the town's right-of-way, existing trees would largely be preserved as equipment is

installed 3-4 feet underground.

6 of 56



Ms. Fran Noel from Carter P.C. presented the results of the FY25 audit, noting the
financial challenges caused by Hurricane Helene. The Town received a clean opinion on its

financial statements, and unmodified opinions on both federal and state single audits.

The Net position decreased from $7.8 million to $4.2 million due to hurricane recovery
costs. The Governmental funds had a combined ending fund balance of $1.6 million, down $3.4
million from the prior year. The General Fund had an unassigned fund balance of $3.2 million.
The Hurricane Helene fund showed a negative balance due to the timing of FEMA
reimbursements. The total revenues were $13 million, including $6.5 million in FEMA
reimbursements. The expenses were $16.5 million, driven by storm recovery and debris removal

costs. The debt increased 46% to $7.9 million.

Ms. Noel reported one significant deficiency: expenditures exceeded appropriations for
debt service by $29,000. A corrective action plan was in place to address this issue. There were

no material weaknesses and no questioned costs related to federal and state programs.

NEW BUSINESS

Consideration of Public Comment Policy and Board Meeting Rules of Decorum
Town Manager Kanipe presented a draft public comment policy and rules of decorum, based on
models from neighboring municipalities and School of Government recommendations. The
policy would formalize existing practices, including allowing speakers three minutes during
public comment periods, requiring them to state their name and address, and establishing

guidelines for civil discourse.
Commissioner Tarleton suggested several amendments, including:
® Changing "register in person" to "appear in person”
e Changing "germane to" to "relevant to" regarding the town's jurisdiction
® Modifying "a copy" to "copies" for written materials
® Replacing "council" with "board" throughout the document
e (larifying follow-up procedures

The Board discussed how to handle audience participation and questions during
meetings, agreeing that while interruptions should not be permitted, the mayor would have

discretion to allow relevant comments and exchanges.

7 of 56



A motion was made to adopt the Public Comment policy and board meeting rules of
decorum as amended was made by Commissioner Tarleton, seconded by Commissioner

Stephens, and passed unanimously.

Consideration of Formal Creation for the Town of Biltmore Forest Tree Committee

Mr. Kanipe explained that while the Tree Committee has been meeting since August, it
needed to be formally created to support the town's application for Tree City USA designation.
He requested formal approval for the committee's creation, noting that he would return later
with a list of members for appointment after confirming their interest. A motion was made by
Commissioner Loomis to create the Town of Biltmore Forest Tree Committee, seconded by

Commissioner Tarleton, and passed unanimously.

Consideration of Town Flag Design

Commissioner Stephens presented a proposed town flag design, explaining that the
initiative began when resident Carol Coastov approached him about creating a town flag. He
worked with Carol and resident OB Morgan on the design, which was then reviewed by the
Vexillological Association of America, who provided positive feedback and suggestions that were

incorporated.

Commissioner Stephens expressed hope that the town would produce the flag for display
and create items like stickers and lapel pins featuring the design. A motion to adopt the proposed
Biltmore Forest flag design was made by Commissioner Stephens, seconded by Commissioner

Tarleton, and passed unanimously.

8 of 56



The meeting was adjourned at 5:59 pm.

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, February 10", 2026 at 4:30 pm.

ATTEST:
Laura Jacobs George F. Goosmann, III
Town Clerk Mayor

9 of 56



Biltmore Forest Valley Springs Station
Incident Response

January 2026

PRIMARY INCIDENT TYPE NUMBER OF CALLS

Fire - Structure Fire - Room and Contents Fire 1
Hazardous Situation - Hazardous Materials - Gas Leak / Gas Odor 4
Medical - Illness - Cardiac Arrest 1
Medical - Illness - Sick Case 2
Medical - Illness - Stroke / CVA 1
Medical - Illness - Well Person Check 1
Medical - Illness - Altered Mental Status 1
Medical - Injury / Trauma - Assault 1
Medical - Injury / Trauma - Motor Vehicle Collision 4
Medical - Other - Standby Request 1
Public Service - Alarms (Non-Medical) - Fire / Smoke Alarm 3
Public Service - Disaster / Weather - Weather Response 1
Public Service - Other - Standby 1
No Emergency - False Alarm - Accidental Alarm 1
Total 23
Respectfully Submitted,
Fachoviok [} Cicillion

Deputy Chief Zachariah J. Cicillian

10 of 56


http://www.skylandfire.com/

Biltmore Forest Police LIC~S George F. Goosmann, 111, Mayor

. 355 Vanderbilt Road — Doris P Loomis, Mayor-Pro Tem
Biltmore Forest, NC 28803 \ Rk ) | Allan Tarleton, Commissioner
828-274-0822 e Drew Stephens, Commissioner

Chief M. Chris
Beddingfield

Jonathan Kanipe, Town Manager

Biltmore Forest Police Department
February 10th, 2026
Commission Report
January 2026 Data

Total Calls for Service:
825 (756 last month)

Arrests:

2-Felony Arrests-Both for Possession of Methamphetamine, Marijuana, and Drug Paraphernalia
Out of a Traffic Stop

4-Misdemeanor Arrests- All for Out of Jurisdiction Warrants, All From Traffic Stops

Citations:
29-Citations for various traffic violations (16 last month)
Time Consumption Summary:

Approximations:

Business Checks- 4 hours

House Checks- 5 hours

Radar Operation- 3 hours

Vehicle Crash Investigation- 2 hours

Notable Calls and Projects
We worked through the weather events. Excellent teamwork between all departments and agencies.

Assisted the Biltmore Estate Company Police on a couple of cases. One was a wanted homeless person who
was located and arrested in town.

We had a juvenile social media case. Subject was photographed with weapons and posted on social media.
Case was solved as a hoax with airsoft weapons. All pertinent entities were notified.

11 of 56



Biltmore Forest Police Department
355 Vanderbilt Rd
Biltmore Forest , NC 28803
Calls for Service
01/01/2026 - 01/31/2026

BILTMORE FOREST POLICE DEPARTMENT Count Percent
ALARM 19 2.30%
ANIMAL CONTROL ) 0.61%
ASSIST MOTORIST 8 0.97%
ASSIST OTHER AGENCY 6 0.73%
BUSINESS CHECK 469 56.85%
CHASE 1 0.12%
CRIME PREVENTION 27 3.27%
DEBRIS IN ROADWAY 4 0.48%
DEPARTMENT OTHER 1 0.12%
DISPUTE 1 0.12%
FRAUD 1 0.12%
GAS LEAK 4 0.48%
HOUSE CHECK 115 13.94%
IDENTITY THEFT 1 0.12%
INVESTIGATION 1 0.12%
JUVENILE ISSUE 3 0.36%
LOST AND FOUND 2 0.24%
MEDICAL EMERGENCY 3 0.36%
NOISE COMPLAINT 1 0.12%
ORDINANCE VIOLATION 4 0.48%
PUBLIC ASSIST 7 0.85%
RADAR OPERATION 10 1.21%
ROAD BLOCKED 1 0.12%
SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT 1 0.12%
SPECIAL CHECK 5 0.61%
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY 2 0.24%
SUSPICIOUS PERSON 7 0.85%
SUSPICIOUS VEHICLE 16 1.94%
TALK WITH OFFICER 4 0.48%
TEST CALL 1 0.12%
TOWN HALL BUSINESS 2 0.24%
TRAFFIC CONTROL 3 0.36%
TRAFFIC STOP 73 8.85%
TREE DOWN 2 0.24%
TRESPASSING 3 0.36%
VEHICLE ACCIDENT 2 0.24%
WARRANT SERVICE 2 0.24%
WATER LEAK 4 0.48%
WELFARE CHECK 4 0.48%

Total Records For BILTMORE FOREST POLICE DEPARTMENT 825 Group/Total 100.00%
Total Records 825

12 of 56



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
February 3, 2026

TOW N of Wi

Agenda Item D-3

. - Public Works Director Monthly Report
il picre

a4

Recurring Activities:

The Public Works Department has completed the following activities during the month of January:

Collected 32.88 tons of garbage.

Diverted 13.46 tons of recycled goods from garbage.

Picked up 14 loads of brush (approximately 378 cubic yards) over 7 days.

Picked up 3 loads of leaves (approximately 81 cubic yards) over 2 days.

Responded to 228 total utility locate requests comprised of 154 new requests and 74
updates.

Visited 4 lots in January documenting the removal of 11 trees and requiring 2 replacements.
There were no notifications of tree removals in December 2025.

Completed daily chlorine residual tests across town and the required two (2) bacteriological.
All tests were passed.

Used the Beacon/Badger Meter automated meter reading system to monitor water leaks
daily and attempted to contact residents of suspected leaks.

We continued to perform litter pick-ups as needed, focusing on the entrances.

Miscellaneous Activities for January

Staff continue to service our fourteen (14) dog waste stations weekly.

We concluded leaf only collection on January 20", and began North route brush collection
on January 16"

Public Works staff removed Christmas decorations on the outside areas around the Town
Hall complex.

We installed two new water services this month, one on Brooklawn Chase and one on
Hilltop Road.

We continue to monitor and clean storm drain inlets throughout town.

We continue to work on the streetlight and camera at 15 Ridgefield Place as well as the
streetlight at 394 Vanderbilt. Both of these lamps are ready for Duke to reconnect power to
be operational.

I worked with the field crew from A-American Electric the week of January 12, They
completed their troubleshooting and finished their work at 394 Vanderbilt. They are
scheduled to return on February 16-19 and 23-26.

13 of 56



The custom designed streetlight was delivered on December 9. It is in the Public Works
shop for viewing now. We would appreciate Board input on this lamp.

The Helene-damaged wooden guardrails on Arboretum Road and Greenwood Place were
replaced on January 6™ and January 7%, 2026.

Our entire team participated in a chainsaw safety class with instructors from the NC
Department of Labor on January 8, 2026.

Our department responded to two winter weather events this month. The first occurred on
the weekend of January 23 through 25, and the other on the weekend of January 30-
February 2. Both events have been the most severe winter weather events to occur in over
two years.

AT&T’s subcontractor (ANSCO, Inc.) continued to work on the installation of new fiber
optic cable throughout January. We understand that, generally, the north section of Town is
complete, with work beginning south as soon as the weather allows.

Supervisor Dale and I have attempted to observe the AT&T work to make sure disruptions
are minimized and the work areas are kept clean and neat. We speak with their
representatives regularly.

I attended the French Broad River MPO Technical Coordinating Committee (TCC) meeting
virtually on Thursday, January 15™

Supervisor Dale continues to participate in the tree committee.

I'had the Town’s tree removal contractor remove three (3) hazardous trees near 303
Vanderbilt Road and scheduled the removal of a lightning damaged tree near the intersection
of Southwood and Brookside Roads.

We have taken our two large mowers in for annual service in anticipation of this summer’s
mowing season.

Manager Kanipe asked me to represent the Town on the Buncombe County Pedestrian Plan
Steering Committee. 1 was officially appointed on December 2™ by the Buncombe County
Board of Commissioners. I attended the kick-off meeting on December 4™ and have been
providing feedback on the committee’s work For more information about this project
please visit https://engage.buncombecounty.org/pedestrianplan

Larger/Capital Projects Updates

Bunconbe-Madison Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan (HMP) Update

The next meeting of this group is scheduled for Wednesday, February 11™. This meeting is
the Risk Assessment and Mitigation Strategy Meeting where we will review initial findings
from the updated risk assessment and begin discussions around the Mitigation Strategy. The
focus of this meeting is to better identify hazards and the problems they cause in the region
and work together to come up with solutions to those problems through mitigation actions.
The last HMP for Buncombe and Madison County was prepared in 2021, and FEMA
requires the plan to be updated every five years. The 2021 plan can be viewed at
https://www.ncdps.gov/media/13258/open.

The project website can be viewed at
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/c7ece820a57c4698a9ed87b73e232ca3.

14 of 56


https://engage.buncombecounty.org/pedestrianplan
https://www.ncdps.gov/media/13258/open
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/c7ece820a57c4698a9ed87b73e232ca3

Streetlight . ED Conversions and Service Upgrades

All streetlights were inspected for operation on 01/08/2026.

A total of nine (9) streetlights are structurally damaged or destroyed. Seven (7) of the nine
(9) have been removed and are at Public Works awaiting replacement or repair.
Out of the 66 total lamps, twenty-five (25) are not functioning currently. This includes the
nine (9) damaged or removed lamps.
The camera system is functional except for the following locations:
o Stuyvesant Rd. and Parkway Rd. (Pole removed due to damage)
o 15 Ridgefield Place (Camera slated for replacement by Flock)
o Vanderbilt Rd. and Busbee Rd., SE Corner (Pole removed due to damage)
o Vanderbilt Rd. and Cedarcliff Road (Damaged power supply cable to be replaced)
o Southwood Rd and Brookside Rd (Camera damaged by lightning)

Anticipated February Activities

Staff will complete the required daily chlorine, monthly bacteriological sampling, and
disinfection byproduct testing.

Brush collection will begin on February 4™, 2026 (delayed by two days due to snow) for the
South route and February 16", 2026, on the North Route.

We will perform routine maintenance activities in all public spaces as needed.

I plan to attend the French Broad River MPO Technical Coordinating Committee (TCC)
meeting virtually on Thursday, February 12*.

All-American Electric is scheduled to perform streetlight and camera maintenance on
February 16-19 and 23-26.

I will be meeting with representatives from the Duke Energy-Progress streetlight team to
discuss alternatives they may be able to offer for replacing our streetlights on February 4™,
2026.

I will be evaluating our current winter weather readiness considering the two recent winter
storm events. These events have depleted our salt reserves to a minimal level.

Supervisor Dale and I continue to participate with Manager Kanipe and Chief Beddingfield
in the Owner-Architect-Contractor (OAC) meetings for the planned new Police and Public
Works facilities, twice per month.

As always, please do not hesitate to contact me with any questions or feedback.

15 of 56



MEMORANDUM

To:  Jonathan Kanipe, Town Manager

Mayor and Board of Commissioners

CE?{&}Z Re:  January Monthly Report

Date: February 10, 2026

Recurring

e Check PD reports daily for code violations, make contact as needed to homeowners and contractors.
e Field inspections are conducted multiple times a week.

e Review plans for the Board of Adjustment for meeting packets.

e Conducted site visits with the Board of Adjustment Members for all projects to be heard.

e Communicate weekly with all who submit plans for approval.

e Advising homeowners and contractors of the ordinances.

e Addressing violations as needed.

e Issuing permits as needed.

Monthly Breakdown

e Review of potential subdivisions: 0

e Land use conferences virtual/on site: 106
e Notice of violations verbal/written: 0

e Complaints: 1

e Resolved violations/complaints: 1

e Plans reviewed: 29

e Plans reviewed for BOA: 2

e Zoning permits issued: 2

e Demo permits issued: 0

e Zoning Clearance letters issued: 0

Miscellaneous

The Board of Adjustment meeting was canceled for January due to weather. Projects submitted for the
January meeting will be carried over to the February meeting.

16 of 56



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
FEBRUARY 10, 2026

) AGENDA ITEM E-5
TOW N of il

: . TOWN MANAGER’S MONTHLY REPORT
ééfﬁ?(ﬁ@

a4

Construction Project Update: Staff met virtually with the architect, DP3, and construction manager
at risk, Edifice Construction, last week. We meet bi-weekly — once in person, once virtual — for these
meetings to ensure all three parties are on the same page with the process. We anticipate receiving the
schematic design phase pricing at our next meeting. This will be our first ground-truthing exercise to
see how the project’s estimated budget matches with potential sub-contractor’s estimates from the
“real world”. After this round of pricing, the Town will receive two more pricing opinions from
Edifice before we enter into a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) for the overall project. These
pricing opinions allow the Town, contractor, and architect to make tweaks, if needed, or review
potential additions or cost savings.

FEMA Reimbursement Updates: Our FEMA reimbursement projects are significantly farther
along than they were last month. The short update is that all of our project submissions in September
(which we believed were finalized) were re-opened with another project manager in Washington who
has been doing a great job facilitating requests from various FEMA departments to us directly. I am
hopeful that we see movement on these funds actually being disbursed back to the Town within the
next 1-2 months.

AT&T Fiber Project: AT&T anticipates wrapping the first phase of their fiber project up by the end
of next week and the second phase is scheduled for completion by early to mid-March. During our
conversation this week, AT&T continued to indicate that customer transition to this new setrvice
would speed up the removal of their aerial lines that are currently served from the rear lot line in most
cases.

Winter Storm Review: After several years with no appreciable snow or winter weather, we received
two significant storms in back-to-back weeks. I am exceptionally thankful for the hard work by our
Public Works team members and the Police Department officers who worked so hard to keep the
roads clear and safe during the storm. Our command staff of Chief Beddingfield, Public Works
Director Harry Buckner, Public Works Supervisor Mike Dale, and Lt. Kenny Merritt did great work
ensuring that all staff was prepared and ready to address the issue we faced. My sincere thanks to all
our staff members who worked so hard during that time.

Tree Committee “Reforest the Forest” Speaker Series Event: On Tuesday, February 17, the Tree
Committee will host their next speaker in the “Reforest the Forest” Speaker Series. Dave Ellum, PHD,
Dean & Director, The Center for Working Lands at Warren Wilson College will present a discussion

17 of 56



on Post Disturbance Forest Regeneration. This talk will cover the basics of natural regeneration
processes in Southern Appalachian forests after disturbances and the role of native tree species in
ecological restoration. Attendees will come away with an understanding of how our forests reorganize
after disturbances and how that process can be facilitated through native tree plantings.

Dr. Ellum is Dean and Director of the Center for Working Lands at Warren Wilson College. He holds
a BS in Wildlife Biology from North Carolina State University and an MF and PhD in Silviculture and
Forest Ecology from Yale University. We appreciate Dr. Ellum coming to Biltmore Forest and
providing this beneficial information.

Echoes of the Forest Mantle Unveiling: Shortly after Dr. Ellum’s presentation, the Town will also
unveil and dedicate the “Echoes of the Forest” mantle that will reside in the Town Hall. This project
began as Commissioner Drew Stephens saw examples of the Echoes work after Hurricane Helene
and brought the idea to the Friends of Biltmore Forest (FOBF) committee. Liisa Andressen, the
founder of “Echoes of the Forest” presented the vision for this group and an idea to the committee.
Ultimately, a decision was made for a signature “echo” to be created and placed in the Town Hall’s
Social Room. Please plan to join the community at 7pm to celebrate community, craftsmanship, and
conservation when Echoes of the Forest joins forces with the Town of Biltmore Forest to unveil this
stunning black walnut mantel piece, handcrafted from a tree felled by Hurricane Helene, and crafted
by Master woodworker Kwadwo Som-Pimpong.

Much more information on the Echoes of the Forest and this specific piece may be found at
echoesoftheforest.org

18 of 56


https://www.echoesoftheforest.org/post/the-mantel-that-rose-from-the-storm-the-biltmore-forest-mantel-story

January 2026

Monthly Financial Report

First Citizens Money Market Checking 1,227,123.99 | |Beginning Balance 1,085,075.38
NCCMT General Fund Government 1,526,403.61 Cleared Checks (178,483.92)
NCCMT Water Fund Government 114,429.96 Cleared Deposits 891,484.11
TOTAL 2,867,957.56 Cleared Credits 12,863.85
Cleared Debits 195,511.52
NORTH CAROLINA CASH MANAGEMENT TRUST Cleared E-payments 388.303.91
GENERAL FUND Government Change in Account Balance 2,394,754.85
Beginning Balance 1,396,292.65 Prelim balance 1,181,959.20
Local Govt Distribution (NCDOR) 125,614.95 Outstanding Items 45,164.79
Transfer to First Citizens Checking - Ending Balance (F/L Balance) 1,227,123.99
Interest Earned 4,496.01 2025 PROPERTY TAXES
Ending Balance 1,526,403.61 | R Property 872,726,735.00
WATER FUND Government Personal Property (Including BUS & IND) 8,800,958.00
Beginning Balance 114,079.81 | 'personal Property (Public Senice Companies) 3,011,916.00
Interest Eamed 350.15 | Total Assessed 884,539,609.00
Ending Balance 114,42996 Total Levy 3.051.664.00
Budgeted Lewy 3,046,790.00
13 Month Cash and Investment
Flow Comparison Tax Collection Budgeted Levy Amount Collected
Ad Valorem (2024) 3,046,790.00 2,933,954.09
3,000,000.00 .
2,500,000.00 Unpaid per Levy Type 112,835.91
2,000,000.00 Percent Collected 96.297%
1,500,000.00
1,000,000.00
500,000.00 DMV Ad Valorem 135,794.00 84,586.62
BT R R R R E R R 51,207.38
DI R RO S Percent Collected 62.29%
@ ¢ 8 =2 ® 5 25 5 o 9 0 0 @
2 L 2 < = 5 72 4 n ©0 Z2Z a "
= Cash Balance
Investment Balances
4,000,000.00 15,000.00
3,000,000.00 10,000.00
2,000,000.00
5,000.00

1,000,000.00

P
& &
& ¥

o o
> o
¥ &

® b

Y
*’5‘ )0

FIRST CITIZENS CHECKING (Monthly Transaction Report)

I Water Fund Government s General Fund Government =——Combined Interest Earned

19 of 56




Budget to Actual
Revenues vs
Expenditures
FY 2025-2026

$7,000,000

$6,000,000
$5,000,000
$4,000,000
$3,000,000
$2,000,000

$1,000,000

& &

HBudgeted mActual

Ad Valorem Tax

Unrestricted Intergovernmental
Restricted Intergovernmental
Permits & Fees

Investment Earnings
Miscellaneous

Other Financing Source(s)

Budget to Actual Expenditures
FY 2025-2026

Administration R

Police N
Fire Contract E
Public Works |
Sanitation & Recycling N
General Government [
Debt Service |}

0 1,000,000 2,000,000

H Actual = Budgeted

Budget to Actual Revenues
FY 2025-2026

500,000 1,000,000 1,500,000 2,000,000 2,500,000 3,000,000 3,500,000

HActual mBudgeted

20 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest

07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026
*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists
YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ($) $) Balance ($) % Used
3010 Ad Valorem Tax
Revenue
10 General Fund
3010 Ad Valorem Tax
10-3010-0000 AD VALOREM TAXES (PROPERTY) 3,046,790.00 3,057,337.77 3,057,337.77 0.00 -10,547.77 100
10-3010-0100 AD VALOREM TAXES (DMV) 135,794.00 84,586.62 84,586.62 0.00 51,207.38 62
10-3010-0200 TAX INTEREST & PENALTIES 5,000.00 5,022.66 5,022.66 0.00 -22.66 100
3010 Ad Valorem Tax Subtotal $3,187,584.00 $3,146,947.05 $3,146,947.05 $0.00 $40,636.95 99
10 General Fund Subtotal $3,187,584.00 $3,146,947.05 $3,146,947.05 $0.00 $40,636.95 99
Revenue Subtotal $3,187,584.00 $3,146,947.05 $3,146,947.05 $0.00 $40,636.95 99
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $3,187,584.00 $3,146,947.05 $3,146,947.05 $0.00 99
3020 Unrestricted Intergovernm
Revenue
10 General Fund
3020 Unrestricted Intergovernm
10-3020-0000 FRANCHISE & UTILITIES TAX DIST. 268,000.00 126,804.31 126,804.31 0.00 141,195.69 47
10-3020-0100 ALCOHOL BEVERAGE TAX 6,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,500.00 0
10-3020-0200 BUNCOMBE COUNTY 1% TAX 833,595.00 436,932.82 436,932.82 0.00 396,662.18 52
10-3020-0300 1/2 CENT SALES TAXA.40 349,435.00 196,698.82 196,698.82 0.00 152,736.18 56
10-3020-0400 1/2 CENT SALES TAX A.42 429,574.00 232,911.25 232,911.25 0.00 196,662.75 54
10-3020-0600 SALES TAX REFUND 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,000.00 0
10-3020-0700 GASOLINE TAX REFUND 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0
3020 Unrestricted Intergovernm Subtotal $1,922,104.00 $993,347.20 $993,347.20 $0.00 $928,756.80 52
10 General Fund Subtotal $1,922,104.00 $993,347.20 $993,347.20 $0.00 $928,756.80 52
Revenue Subtotal $1,922,104.00 $993,347.20 $993,347.20 $0.00 $928,756.80 52
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $1,922,104.00 $993,347.20 $993,347.20 $0.00 52
3030 Restricted Intergovernmen
Revenue
10 General Fund
3030 Restricted Intergovernmen
10-3030-0000 SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL TAX 1,000.00 541.82 541.82 0.00 458.18 54
10-3030-0100 POWELL BILL 81,000.00 79,742.12 79,742.12 0.00 1,257.88 98
10-3030-0200 ILLICIT SUBSTANCE TAX 0.00 162.92 162.92 0.00 -162.92 *100
3030 Restricted Intergovernmen Subtotal $82,000.00 $80,446.86 $80,446.86 $0.00 $1,553.14 98
10 General Fund Subtotal $82,000.00 $80,446.86 $80,446.86 $0.00 $1,553.14 98
Revenue Subtotal $82,000.00 $80,446.86 $80,446.86 $0.00 $1,553.14 98
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $82,000.00 $80,446.86 $80,446.86 $0.00 98
3040 Permits & Fees
Revenue
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 1 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

21 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026

Town of Biltmore Forest
FY 2025-2026

*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists

YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget (%) Period ($) $) 6] Balance ($) % Used
10 General Fund
3040 Permits & Fees
10-3040-0000 ZONING PERMITS 42,000.00 52,075.00 52,075.00 0.00 -10,075.00 124
10-3040-0100 DOG LICENSE FEE 1,500.00 1,350.00 1,350.00 0.00 150.00 90
3040 Permits & Fees Subtotal $43,500.00 $53,425.00 $53,425.00 $0.00 -$9,925.00 123
10 General Fund Subtotal $43,500.00 $53,425.00 $53,425.00 $0.00 -$9,925.00 123
Revenue Subtotal $43,500.00 $53,425.00 $53,425.00 $0.00 -$9,925.00 123
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $43,500.00 $53,425.00 $53,425.00 $0.00 123
3050 Investment Earnings
Revenue
10 General Fund
3050 Investment Earnings
10-3050-0000 INTEREST EARNED 175,000.00 40,196.43 40,196.43 0.00 134,803.57 23
3050 Investment Earnings Subtotal $175,000.00 $40,196.43 $40,196.43 $0.00 $134,803.57 23
10 General Fund Subtotal $175,000.00 $40,196.43 $40,196.43 $0.00 $134,803.57 23
Revenue Subtotal $175,000.00 $40,196.43 $40,196.43 $0.00 $134,803.57 23
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $175,000.00 $40,196.43 $40,196.43 $0.00 23
3060 Miscellaneous
Revenue
10 General Fund
3060 Miscellaneous
10-3060-0100 AMERICAN TOWER AGREEMENT 38,000.00 33,570.17 33,570.17 0.00 4,429.83 88
10-3060-0200 MISCELLANEOUS 25,000.00 61,370.57 61,742.56 -371.99 -36,742.56 247
10-3060-0300 INSURANCE REIMBURSEMENT 0.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 -1,000.00 *100
3060 Miscellaneous Subtotal $63,000.00 $95,940.74 $96,312.73 -$371.99 -$33,312.73 153
10 General Fund Subtotal $63,000.00 $95,940.74 $96,312.73 -$371.99 -$33,312.73 153
Revenue Subtotal $63,000.00 $95,940.74 $96,312.73 -$371.99 -$33,312.73 153
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $63,000.00 $95,940.74 $95,940.74 -$371.99 152
3290
Revenue
30 Water & Sewer Fund
3290
30-3290-0000 INTEREST EARNED 4,000.00 2,653.90 2,653.90 0.00 1,346.10 66
3290 Subtotal $4,000.00 $2,653.90 $2,653.90 $0.00 $1,346.10 66
30 Water & Sewer Fund Subtotal $4,000.00 $2,653.90 $2,653.90 $0.00 $1,346.10 66
Revenue Subtotal $4,000.00 $2,653.90 $2,653.90 $0.00 $1,346.10 66
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $4,000.00 $2,653.90 $2,653.90 $0.00 66
3350 Commissions, Sw Chg Coll
Revenue
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 2 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

22 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest

07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026
*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists
YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ($) ($) Balance ($) % Used
30 Water & Sewer Fund
3350 Commissions, Sw Chg Coll
30-3350-0000 COMMISSIONS, SEWER CHARGE COLL 10,000.00 7,796.12 7,796.12 0.00 2,203.88 78
3350 Commissions, Sw Chg Coll Subtotal $10,000.00 $7,796.12 $7,796.12 $0.00 $2,203.88 78
30 Water & Sewer Fund Subtotal $10,000.00 $7,796.12 $7,796.12 $0.00 $2,203.88 78
Revenue Subtotal $10,000.00 $7,796.12 $7,796.12 $0.00 $2,203.88 78
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $10,000.00 $7,796.12 $7,796.12 $0.00 78
3500 Other Financing
Other Financing Source
10 General Fund
3500 Other Financing
10-3500-0000 SALE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY 15,000.00 18,150.00 18,150.00 0.00 -3,150.00 121
10-3500-0300 TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE 500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500,000.00 0
10-3500-0500 GRANT (GOVERNMENTAL) FUNDS 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,000.00 0
10-3500-0700 INTERGOVERNMENTAL LOAN (RESTRIC 0.00 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 -15,000.00 *100
3500 Other Financing Subtotal $545,000.00 $33,150.00 $33,150.00 $0.00 $511,850.00 6
10 General Fund Subtotal $545,000.00 $33,150.00 $33,150.00 $0.00 $511,850.00 6
Other Financing Source Subtotal $545,000.00 $33,150.00 $33,150.00 $0.00 $511,850.00 6
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $545,000.00 $33,150.00 $33,150.00 $0.00 6
3710 Water Sales
Revenue
30 Water & Sewer Fund
3710 Water Sales
30-3710-0000 WATER CHARGES 641,000.00 383,332.63 383,332.63 0.00 257,667.37 60
30-3710-0100 MSD CHARGES 439,130.00 254,689.55 254,689.55 0.00 184,440.45 58
30-3710-0200 AMI TRANSMITTER CHARGES 9,000.00 4,195.10 4,195.10 0.00 4,804.90 47
3710 Water Sales Subtotal $1,089,130.00 $642,217.28 $642,217.28 $0.00 $446,912.72 59
30 Water & Sewer Fund Subtotal $1,089,130.00 $642,217.28 $642,217.28 $0.00 $446,912.72 59
Revenue Subtotal $1,089,130.00 $642,217.28 $642,217.28 $0.00 $446,912.72 59
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $1,089,130.00 $642,217.28 $642,217.28 $0.00 59
3730 Water Tap & Connect Fees
Revenue
30 Water & Sewer Fund
3730 Water Tap & Connect Fees
30-3730-0000 WATER TAP AND CONNECTION FEES 10,000.00 10,750.00 10,750.00 0.00 -750.00 108
3730 Water Tap & Connect Fees Subtotal $10,000.00 $10,750.00 $10,750.00 $0.00 -$750.00 108
30 Water & Sewer Fund Subtotal $10,000.00 $10,750.00 $10,750.00 $0.00 -$750.00 108
Revenue Subtotal $10,000.00 $10,750.00 $10,750.00 $0.00 -$750.00 108
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $10,000.00 $10,750.00 $10,750.00 $0.00 108
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 3 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

23 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest
07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026

*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists

YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ($) ($) Balance ($) % Used
3900
Other Financing Source
40 Capital Project Fund
3900
40-3900-4000 FINANCING PROCEEDS-CASHFLOW LO/ 0.00 1,335,763.62 1,335,763.62 0.00 -1,335,763.62 *100
3900 Subtotal $0.00 $1,335,763.62 $1,335,763.62 $0.00  -$1,335,763.62 *100
40 Capital Project Fund Subtotal $0.00 $1,335,763.62 $1,335,763.62 $0.00  -$1,335,763.62 *100
Other Financing Source Subtotal $0.00 $1,335,763.62 $1,335,763.62 $0.00  -$1,335,763.62 *100
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $0.00 $1,335,763.62 $1,335,763.62 $0.00 *100
4200 Administration
Expenditure
4200 Administration
10-4200-0200 SALARIES 383,791.00 267,232.41 267,232.41 0.00 116,558.59 70
10-4200-0500 FICA 29,360.00 20,972.52 20,972.52 0.00 8,387.48 71
10-4200-0600 HEALTH INSURANCE (MEDICAL) 41,748.00 20,694.61 20,694.61 0.00 21,053.39 50
10-4200-0650 DENTAL, VISION, LIFE INSURANCE 13,125.00 4,5675.32 4,575.32 0.00 8,549.68 35
10-4200-0675 HEALTH REIMBUSEMENT ACC 7,500.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 4,500.00 40
10-4200-0700 LGERS RETIREMENT 80,712.00 58,738.96 58,738.96 0.00 21,973.04 73
10-4200-0800 401K SUPP RETIREMENT 19,190.00 12,763.18 12,763.18 0.00 6,426.82 67
10-4200-1000 ACCOUNTING & TAXES 60,000.00 61,551.30 61,551.30 0.00 -1,551.30 103
10-4200-1200 POSTAGE, PRINTING, STATIONARY 12,500.00 8,356.00 8,356.00 0.00 4,144.00 67
10-4200-1400 MILEAGE & BOARD SALARY 21,600.00 12,825.00 12,825.00 0.00 8,775.00 59
10-4200-1500 BLDG & GRNDS MAINTENANCE 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 15,000.00 0
10-4200-1700 MAINTENANCE/REPAIRS-VEHICLES 0.00 5,412.01 5,412.01 0.00 -5,412.01 *100
10-4200-3300 SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT 15,000.00 3,567.44 4,720.89 1,153.45 10,279.11 31
10-4200-5300 DUES & FEES 12,000.00 6,333.25 6,883.25 550.00 5,116.75 57
10-4200-5700 MISCELLANEOUS 5,000.00 247.09 247.09 0.00 4,752.91 5
10-4200-6500 STAFF DEVELOPMENT 25,000.00 9,021.00 10,769.00 1,748.00 14,231.00 43
10-4200-6600 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT & AMORT 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00 0
10-4200-8200 DEBT SERVICE LEASES-PRINCIPAL 6,600.00 5,358.50 5,358.50 0.00 1,241.50 81
10-4200-8201 DEBT SERVICE LEASES-INTEREST 2,400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,400.00 0
4200 Administration Subtotal $770,526.00 $500,648.59 $504,100.04 $3,451.45 $266,425.96 65
Expenditure Subtotal $770,526.00 $500,648.59 $504,100.04 $3,451.45 $266,425.96 65
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$770,526.00 -$500,648.59 -$500,648.59 -$3,451.45 65
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$770,526.00 -$500,648.59 -$500,648.59 -$3,451.45 65
4400
Revenue
40 Capital Project Fund
4400
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 4 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

24 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest

07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026
*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists
YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ($) $) Balance ($) % Used
40-4400-1200 FEMA GRANT REIMBURSEMENT 0.00 216,816.83 216,816.83 0.00 -216,816.83 *100
4400 Subtotal $0.00 $216,816.83 $216,816.83 $0.00 -$216,816.83 *100
40 Capital Project Fund Subtotal $0.00 $216,816.83 $216,816.83 $0.00 -$216,816.83 *100
Revenue Subtotal $0.00 $216,816.83 $216,816.83 $0.00 -$216,816.83 *100
After Transfers Excess Of Revenue Subtotal $0.00 $216,816.83 $216,816.83 $0.00 *100
5100 Police Department
Expenditure
5100 Police Department
10-5100-0200 SALARIES 1,257,901.00 873,327.16 873,327.16 0.00 384,573.84 69
10-5100-0300 OVERTIME 0.00 923.04 923.04 0.00 -923.04 *100
10-5100-0400 SEPARATION ALLOWANCE 32,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 32,000.00 0
10-5100-0500 FICA 96,229.00 69,010.85 69,010.85 0.00 27,218.15 72
10-5100-0600 HEALTH INSURANCE (MEDICAL) 141,944.00 78,780.17 78,780.17 0.00 63,163.83 56
10-5100-0650 DENTAL, VISION, LIFE INSURANCE 35,700.00 13,070.52 13,070.52 0.00 22,629.48 37
10-5100-0675 HRA HEALTH REIMB ACCT 25,500.00 12,250.00 12,250.00 0.00 13,250.00 48
10-5100-0700 LGERS RETIREMENT 286,298.00 192,010.37 192,010.37 0.00 94,287.63 67
10-5100-0800 401K SUPP RETIREMENT 62,895.00 41,170.86 41,170.86 0.00 21,724.14 65
10-5100-1500 MAINT/REPAIR - BLDG/GROUNDS 10,000.00 1,935.64 1,935.64 0.00 8,064.36 19
10-5100-1600 MAINT/REPAIR - EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 2,280.82 4,655.72 2,374.90 344.28 93
10-5100-1700 MAINT/REPAIR - VEHICLES 25,000.00 19,130.00 19,824.89 694.89 5,175.11 79
10-5100-3100 MOTOR FUELS 21,000.00 12,056.05 12,056.05 0.00 8,943.95 57
10-5100-3300 SUPPLIES 10,000.00 6,001.72 6,161.04 159.32 3,838.96 62
10-5100-3600 UNIFORMS 25,000.00 4,758.24 6,310.91 1,552.67 18,689.09 25
10-5100-3700 SOFTWARE 15,000.00 6,097.42 10,361.68 4,264.26 4,638.32 69
10-5100-3800 TECHNOLOGY 100,000.00 40,679.46 76,529.66 35,850.20 23,470.34 77
10-5100-5700 MISCELLANEOUS 1,000.00 8,593.53 8,593.53 0.00 -7,593.53 859
10-5100-5800 PHYSICAL EXAMS 5,000.00 1,009.78 2,269.78 1,260.00 2,730.22 45
10-5100-6500 STAFF DEVELOPMENT 15,000.00 10,733.49 14,114.10 3,380.61 885.90 94
10-5100-7400 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT PURCHASES 75,000.00 40,316.40 44,316.40 4,000.00 30,683.60 59
10-5100-8200 DEBT SERVICE-LEASE 72,000.00 39,690.30 39,690.30 0.00 32,309.70 55
10-5100-8201 DEBT SERVICE-INTEREST 4,800.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,800.00 0
5100 Police Department Subtotal $2,322,267.00 $1,473,825.82 $1,527,362.67 $53,536.85 $794,904.33 66
Expenditure Subtotal $2,322,267.00 $1,473,825.82 $1,527,362.67 $53,536.85 $794,904.33 66
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal ~ -$2,322,267.00 -$1,473,825.82  -$1,473,825.82 -$53,536.85 63
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal ~ -$2,322,267.00 -$1,473,825.82  -$1,473,825.82 -$53,536.85 63
5200 Fire Services
Expenditure
5200 Fire Services
10-5200-0000 FIRE CONTRACT 425,000.00 318,750.00 318,750.00 0.00 106,250.00 75
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 5 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

25 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest

07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026
*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budaet exists
YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ($) $) Balance ($) % Used
5200 Fire Services Subtotal $425,000.00 $318,750.00 $318,750.00 $0.00 $106,250.00 75
Expenditure Subtotal $425,000.00 $318,750.00 $318,750.00 $0.00 $106,250.00 75
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$425,000.00 -$318,750.00 -$318,750.00 $0.00 75
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$425,000.00 -$318,750.00 -$318,750.00 $0.00 75
5600 Public Works
Expenditure
5600 Public Works
10-5600-0200 SALARIES 286,246.00 207,016.08 207,016.08 0.00 79,229.92 72
10-5600-0500 FICA 21,898.00 16,116.60 16,116.60 0.00 5,781.40 74
10-5600-0600 HOSPITAL INSURANCE (MEDICAL) 41,748.00 21,884.63 21,884.63 0.00 19,863.37 52
10-5600-0650 DENTAL, VISION, LIFE INSURANCE 10,500.00 3,701.11 3,701.11 0.00 6,798.89 35
10-5600-0675 HRA HEALTH REIMB ACCT 9,000.00 3,375.00 3,375.00 0.00 5,625.00 38
10-5600-0700 LGERS RETIREMENT 60,198.00 44,882.77 44,882.77 0.00 15,315.23 75
10-5600-0800 401K SUPP RETIREMENT 14,312.00 9,302.71 9,302.71 0.00 5,009.29 65
10-5600-1300 STREETLIGHTS ELECTRIC 15,000.00 8,782.08 8,782.08 0.00 6,217.92 59
10-5600-1500 MAINT/REPAIR - BLDG/GROUNDS 10,000.00 43,482.49 63,458.57 19,976.08 -53,458.57 635
10-5600-1600 MAINT/REPAIR- STREETLIGHTS 50,000.00 8,038.25 8,038.25 0.00 41,961.75 16
10-5600-1700 MAINT/REPAIR - VEHICLES 10,000.00 3,984.24 3,984.24 0.00 6,015.76 40
10-5600-3100 MOTOR FUELS 18,750.00 9,644.70 9,644.70 0.00 9,105.30 51
10-5600-3300 SUPPLIES 10,000.00 3,307.87 3,564.99 257.12 6,435.01 36
10-5600-3400 STREET SIGNS & NUMBERS 1,000.00 831.56 1,481.56 650.00 -481.56 148
10-5600-3600 UNIFORMS 10,000.00 1,610.75 5,424.50 3,813.75 4,575.50 54
10-5600-3800 TECHNOLOGY 2,000.00 1,100.66 1,100.66 0.00 899.34 55
10-5600-5200 PARKS 50,000.00 3,073.47 5,448.87 2,375.40 44,551.13 1
10-5600-5202 GREENWOOD PARK STREAM RESTORA 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,000.00 0
10-5600-5800 PHYSICAL EXAMS 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0
10-5600-5900 MISCELLANEOUS 5,000.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 4,995.00 0
10-5600-6000 CAPITAL OUTLAY 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0
10-5600-6500 STAFF DEVELOPMENT 5,000.00 8,114.14 8,114.14 0.00 -3,114.14 162
40-5600-7402 CATEGORY A- DEBRIS 0.00 2,429,275.13 2,429,275.13 0.00 -2,429,275.13 *100
5600 Public Works Subtotal $686,652.00 $2,827,529.24 $2,854,601.59 $27,072.35  -$2,167,949.59 416
Expenditure Subtotal $686,652.00 $2,827,529.24 $2,854,601.59 $27,072.35  -$2,167,949.59 416
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$686,652.00  -$2,827,529.24  -$2,827,529.24 -$27,072.35 412
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$686,652.00  -$2,827,529.24  -$2,827,529.24 -$27,072.35 412
5700 Streets & Transportation
Expenditure
5700 Streets & Transportation
10-5700-1600 MAINT / REPAIR-EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 1,192.59 1,192.59 0.00 3,807.41 24
10-5700-1700 VEHICLE REPAIRS - STREET DEPT. 1,000.00 60,006.19 60,006.19 0.00 -59,006.19 6,001
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 6 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

26 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest
07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026

*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists

YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ($) $) Balance ($) % Used
10-5700-2200 CONTRACTS- PAVING & STRIPING 200,000.00 146,406.25 146,406.25 0.00 53,593.75 73
10-5700-2300 SUPPLIES 10,000.00 4,807.87 6,521.84 1,713.97 3,478.16 65
10-5700-2400 TRAFFIC SIGNS 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0
10-5700-2500 STORM WATER DRAINAGE 200,000.00 18,513.93 21,056.25 2,542.32 178,943.75 1
10-5700-6500 STAFF DEVELOPMENT 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0
10-5700-7400 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT PURCHASES 30,000.00 6,748.65 6,748.65 0.00 23,251.35 22
10-5700-7500 ENGINEERING 25,000.00 33,389.25 33,389.25 0.00 -8,389.25 134
10-5700-8200 DEBT SERVICE LEASES-PRINCIPAL 10,800.00 17,051.21 17,051.21 0.00 -6,251.21 158
10-5700-8201 DEBT SERVICE LEASES-INTEREST 4,800.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,800.00 0
5700 Streets & Transportation Subtotal $492,100.00 $288,115.94 $292,372.23 $4,256.29 $199,727.77 59
Expenditure Subtotal $492,100.00 $288,115.94 $292,372.23 $4,256.29 $199,727.77 59
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$492,100.00 -$288,115.94 -$288,115.94 -$4,256.29 59
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$492,100.00 -$288,115.94 -$288,115.94 -$4,256.29 59
5800 Sanitation & Recycling
Expenditure
5800 Sanitation & Recycling
10-5800-0200 SALARIES 153,718.00 104,701.23 104,701.23 0.00 49,016.77 68
10-5800-0500 FICA 11,759.00 8,480.85 8,480.85 0.00 3,278.15 72
10-5800-0600 HEALTH INSURANCE (MEDICAL) 25,012.00 13,479.87 13,479.87 0.00 11,532.13 54
10-5800-0650 DENTAL,VISION, LIFE INSURANCE 6,300.00 2,010.99 2,010.99 0.00 4,289.01 32
10-5800-0675 HRA HEALTH REIMB ACCT 4,500.00 2,250.00 2,250.00 0.00 2,250.00 50
10-5800-0700 LGERS RETIREMENT 60,198.00 21,976.63 21,976.63 0.00 38,221.37 37
10-5800-0800 401K SUPP RETIREMENT 14,312.00 4,900.01 4,900.01 0.00 9,411.99 34
10-5800-1700 MAINT/REPAIRS - VEHICLES 50,000.00 15,751.39 19,239.54 3,488.15 30,760.46 38
10-5800-3100 MOTOR FUELS 31,200.00 9,975.84 9,975.84 0.00 21,224.16 32
10-5800-3300 SUPPLIES 1,500.00 1,070.74 1,070.74 0.00 429.26 71
10-5800-3800 TECHNOLOGY 1,000.00 1,891.96 1,891.96 0.00 -891.96 189
10-5800-6000 CAPITAL OUTLAY 150,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 150,000.00 0
10-5800-8000 TIPPING FEES & BRUSH REMOVAL 33,750.00 15,155.41 15,155.41 0.00 18,594.59 45
10-5800-8100 RECYCLING 10,000.00 5,133.02 5,133.02 0.00 4,866.98 51
10-5800-8200 BRUSH & LEAF DISPOSAL FEES 54,000.00 23,511.64 23,511.64 0.00 30,488.36 44
10-5800-8300 DUMPSTER FEES 26,400.00 15,733.49 15,733.49 0.00 10,666.51 60
5800 Sanitation & Recycling Subtotal $633,649.00 $246,023.07 $249,511.22 $3,488.15 $384,137.78 39
Expenditure Subtotal $633,649.00 $246,023.07 $249,511.22 $3,488.15 $384,137.78 39
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$633,649.00 -$246,023.07 -$246,023.07 -$3,488.15 39
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$633,649.00 -$246,023.07 -$246,023.07 -$3,488.15 39
6600 General Government
Expenditure
6600 General Government
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 7 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

27 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest

07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026
*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budaet exists
YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget (%) Period ($) $) 6] Balance ($) % Used
10-6600-0400 OUTSIDE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.00 149,255.78 149,255.78 0.00 -149,255.78 *100
10-6600-0401 LEGAL SERVICES 30,000.00 42,975.00 42,975.00 0.00 -12,975.00 143
10-6600-0402 ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES 0.00 27,401.00 27,401.00 0.00 -27,401.00 *100
10-6600-1100 TECHNOLOGY 150,000.00 94,381.17 94,381.17 0.00 55,618.83 63
10-6600-1300 MUNICIPAL UTILITIES 26,000.00 12,156.47 12,156.47 0.00 13,843.53 47
10-6600-1500 GE. REPS. AND MAINT. 35,000.00 16,616.83 16,819.93 203.10 18,180.07 48
10-6600-5400 INSURANCE 131,250.00 127,278.30 127,278.30 0.00 3,971.70 97
10-6600-6000 CONTINGENCY 62,707.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 62,707.00 0
10-6600-6100 MISCELLANEOUS 5,000.00 5,008.78 5,008.78 0.00 -8.78 100
10-6600-6200 EMERGENCY EXPENSES 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0
10-6600-6201 CORPORATE WELLNESS 12,000.00 420.00 420.00 0.00 11,580.00 4
10-6600-6300 COMMUNITY EVENTS 50,000.00 19,981.40 20,289.03 307.63 29,710.97 41
10-6600-6400 WILDLIFE MANAGEMENT 5,000.00 1,046.08 1,046.08 0.00 3,953.92 21
10-6600-6500 FOREST MANAGEMENT 75,000.00 33,928.87 33,928.87 0.00 41,071.13 45
6600 General Government Subtotal $586,957.00 $530,449.68 $530,960.41 $510.73 $55,996.59 90
Expenditure Subtotal $586,957.00 $530,449.68 $530,960.41 $510.73 $55,996.59 90
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$586,957.00 -$530,449.68 -$530,449.68 -$510.73 90
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$586,957.00 -$530,449.68 -$530,449.68 -$510.73 90
6700 Debt Service
Expenditure
6700 Debt Service
10-6700-0500 Public Works Building-Principal 84,211.00 42,105.26 42,105.26 0.00 42,105.74 50
10-6700-0600 NCDEQ LOAN STRM REST 14,600.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 14,600.00 0
10-6700-1500 Public Works Building-Interest 9,500.00 4,951.59 4,951.59 0.00 4,548.41 52
6700 Debt Service Subtotal $108,311.00 $47,056.85 $47,056.85 $0.00 $61,254.15 43
Expenditure Subtotal $108,311.00 $47,056.85 $47,056.85 $0.00 $61,254.15 43
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$108,311.00 -$47,056.85 -$47,056.85 $0.00 43
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$108,311.00 -$47,056.85 -$47,056.85 $0.00 43
8100 Water Dept.
Expenditure
8100 Water Dept.
30-8100-0200 SALARIES 215,843.00 112,374.87 112,374.87 0.00 103,468.13 52
30-8100-0400 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,000.00 12,910.00 14,796.00 1,886.00 -9,796.00 296
30-8100-0500 FICA 16,512.00 8,991.35 8,991.35 0.00 7,520.65 54
30-8100-0600 HEALTH INSURANCE (MEDICAL) 0.00 12,351.20 12,351.20 0.00 -12,351.20 *100
30-8100-0650 DENTAL, VISION, LIFE INSURANCE 0.00 2,401.53 2,401.53 0.00 -2,401.53 *100
30-8100-0675 HRA HEALTH REIMBUSEMENT ACCT 0.00 1,875.00 1,875.00 0.00 -1,875.00 *100
30-8100-0700 LGERS RETIREMENT 43,773.00 25,184.84 25,184.84 0.00 18,588.16 58
30-8100-0800 401K SUPP RETIREMENT 10,792.00 6,980.28 6,980.28 0.00 3,811.72 65
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 8 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

28 of 56



REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT Town of Biltmore Forest

07/01/2025 To 01/31/2026 FY 2025-2026
*100 in the % Used column indicates that no budget exists
YTD With
Current Encumbrance Encumbrance Remaining
Account Budget ($) Period ($) ) $) Balance ($) % Used
30-8100-1200 POSTAGE, PRINTING,& STATIONARY 2,000.00 588.24 588.24 0.00 1,411.76 29
30-8100-1500 GENERAL REPAIRS 10,000.00 1,426.98 1,426.98 0.00 8,573.02 14
30-8100-3300 SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 15,000.00 14,074.40 15,694.94 1,620.54 -694.94 105
30-8100-4800 WATER PURCHASES 256,748.00 135,499.70 135,499.70 0.00 121,248.30 53
30-8100-4900 SEWER PURCHASES 439,130.00 334,441.67 334,441.67 0.00 104,688.33 76
30-8100-5000 AMI TRANSMITTER FEES 9,000.00 5,342.44 5,342.44 0.00 3,657.56 59
30-8100-5700 MISCELLANEOUS 2,500.00 1,125.61 1,125.61 0.00 1,374.39 45
30-8100-6500 STAFF DEVELOPMENT 2,500.00 754.80 754.80 0.00 1,745.20 30
30-8100-7400 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 84,331.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 84,331.00 0
8100 Water Dept. Subtotal $1,113,129.00 $676,322.91 $679,829.45 $3,506.54 $433,299.55 61
Expenditure Subtotal $1,113,129.00 $676,322.91 $679,829.45 $3,506.54 $433,299.55 61
Before Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$1,113,129.00 -$676,322.91 -$676,322.91 -$3,506.54 61
After Transfers Deficiency Of Revenue Subtotal -$1,113,129.00 -$676,322.91 -$676,322.91 -$3,506.54 61
JONATHAN 02/06/2026 11:53:43AM Page 9 of 9

fl-RevenueAndExpenditurePortrait

29 of 56



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
FEBRUARY 10, 2026

AGENDA ITEM G-1

PRESENTATION - GREG JENNINGS

TOW N of STREAM RESTORATION MASTER PLAN

i/l 1200 1e
75

Background

The Town engaged with Jennings Environmental in February 2024 to perform a stream restoration
master planning document. This project was funded with a fifty (50) percent matching grant from the
NC Land and Water Fund, with a total cost to the Town of $30,000 and total project cost of $60,000.

Mr. Jennings will present the findings from this report and provide additional information to the
Board regarding potential restoration projects and other grant opportunities.

Attachments

1. Biltmore Forest Townwide Stormwater and Stream Restoration Plan, January 2026

30 of 56



Biltmore Forest Townwide Stormwater and Stream Restoration Plan

v

/I?O ’e

Funded by:

-

LAND&WATER

2

North Carolina Land and Water Fund
Project Number 2023-801

Prepared by:

Jennings

Environmental

Jennings Environmental, PLLC
Asheville, NC

January 2026

31 of 56



1. INTRODUCTION

The Town of Biltmore Forest contracted with Jennings Environmental PLLC to complete a study of the 24
miles of streams within its jurisdiction to identify potential projects for ecosystem restoration and
protection. Stream restoration and stormwater management projects have the potential to improve
water quality and ecological conditions, protect public and private infrastructure from erosion and flood
impacts, and enhance community nature-based recreation opportunities.

Streams in the Town of Biltmore Forest have been affected by historical land use changes including
residential development, piping, and damming. These changes in rainfall-runoff response have caused
streambank erosion, downcutting, tree fall, and threats to community infrastructure over the past
century. The NC Department of Environmental Quality (NCDEQ) French Broad River Basinwide Water
Quality Plan (2011) describes water quality impairments in the French Broad River and provides
recommendations related to stormwater treatment, reduction of streambank erosion, and land
conservation. The plan recommends that communities implement flood resilience projects to address
erosion control and stormwater management.

Hurricane Helene in September 2024 caused catastrophic flooding and wind damage to forests
throughout the Town. The resulting stream erosion problems and loss of streamside vegetation will
continue cause impacts to water quality and infrastructure during future storm events. Comprehensive
watershed planning to address erosion and sedimentation is important for protecting Town
infrastructure and quality of life.

This project evaluated streams throughout the Town to identify opportunities for improvements
associated with streambank stabilization, habitat enhancements, floodplain access, stormwater
management, and healthy forested riparian buffers. The list of 16 potential projects includes
recommended restoration measures and estimated costs of implementation. Concept plans for four of
the highest-priority projects were developed to support implementation planning, including possible
grant applications.

Recommendations developed in this study will be used in planning for watershed restoration projects to
improve water quality and natural ecosystem health in the Town's streams and the Swannanoa and
French Broad Rivers. This information is valuable for grant applications to support future ecosystem
restoration work in the Town.

32 of 56



2. WATERSHED CHARACTERIZATION

Streams flowing through the Town of Biltmore Forest are mapped on Figure 1. The Fourmile Branch
watershed, including Brown Branch, Raoul Branch, and several unnamed tributaries (UTs), drains 3
square miles of the southern part of town west toward French Broad River. The Ram Branch watershed
drains 0.7 square miles of the northern part of town north toward Swannanoa River. A small tributary of
Sweeten Creek drains 40 acres east toward Hendersonville Road at Busbee Road. Land use throughout
the Town’s watersheds is primarily urban forest with about 10% impervious surface associated with
roads, parking, and buildings.

P
French Broad River

Fourmile Branch e
/ Raoul Branch

. (N
/ Legend
~——  Maicipal Boundary
K —— Biltmore Forest Szream
Other Sweam
—— MajorRoad

Stecisn Ovesesy Stream Restoration Planning Shaet

Jennin gs 0 750 1500 3,000 4,500 5000 Town of Biltmore Forest ) A
Environmental — - Buncombe County, North Carolina

Figure 1. Streams in the Town of Biltmore Forest.

All streams flowing through the Town are classified by NCDEQ as Class C surface waters, meaning that
they are “protected for uses such as aquatic life propagation, survival and maintenance of biological
integrity (including fishing and fish), wildlife, secondary contact recreation, and agriculture. Secondary
contact recreation means wading, boating, other uses not involving human body contact with water,
and activities involving human body contact with water where such activities take place on an
infrequent, unorganized, or incidental basis.” (https://www.deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-
resources/water-planning/classification-standards/classifications)

33 of 56


https://www.deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/water-planning/classification-standards/classifications
https://www.deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/water-planning/classification-standards/classifications

3. WATERSHED RESTORATION PROJECTS

The project team evaluated potential projects identified from GIS data review, field reconnaissance,
landowner contacts, and Town staff suggestions. Potential projects were visited by engineers and
scientists to ground-truth baseline information and evaluate restoration opportunities. The 16 potential
restoration projects with estimated costs are listed in Table 1 and described in more detail below. The
map in Figure 2 shows project locations. Concept plans for four high-priority projects at Sites 2, 3, 7, and
15 are shown in the Appendix.

Table 1. Potential Watershed Restoration Projects.

Site Description Project Approach Estimated Cost A
1 Cedar Hil.l RF)ad, upstream of Stream restoration, riparian buffer $200,000
existing project
2* Brooklawn Park Stream restoration, riparian buffer $900,000
3* Greenwood Place Stream restoration, riparian buffer $400,000
4 Upstream of Greenwood Park Streamsizi:g\'i:tz:'\;z?;;a dnsbuffer, $300,000
5 Vanderbilt Road Stream restoration, riparian buffer $300,000
6 Rose Bank Park Daylight existing piped stream, riparian $1,800,000
buffer
7* Busbee Road Stormwater Control Measure $300,000
8 Ram Branch at Biltmore Estate Stream restoration, riparian buffer $300,000
9 Valley Springs Road Riparian buffer $50,000
10 Ups’c;‘:zmg:sgzg% Lake Riparian buffer $50,000
11 Upstrea:rilirjtc;tl\zwn Lake Riparian buffer $50,000
12 Brookside Road Riparian buffer $50,000
13 Golf course Stream restoration, Riparian buffer $300,000
14 Arboretum Road Riparian buffer $50,000
15 * Downstream Rose Bank Park Stream restoration, Riparian buffer $500,000
16 Carolina Day School Riparian buffer $50,000

* Priority projects with concept plans shown in the Appendix.
A Estimated planning-level costs are based on 2026 costs for similar projects, including design,
permitting, construction, and planting. Additional costs may be required for infrastructure

improvements associated with stream crossings or utilities. Costs will be refined during design.

34 of 56




z eurjoie)) YuoN ‘“iunoy) aquooung
199y§ 18930,] 2JOUN[Ig JO UMO],

| wEng K2 VOWNFE JO UAD], mm—
" {mor pedsosungy 1530 230w I

R |
9 ] 000°¢ 005 0SL 0

§109(01 ] UONEIOISIY PIAYSIA LA\ [ENUNOJ

|BluBWUOIIAUT
sbuluuap

N/

Figure 2. Locations of 16 Potential Restoration Projects.

35 of 56



Recommended design approaches and photos for the 16 restoration projects are listed below.

1. Cedar Hill Road, upstream of existing stream restoration project (coordinates 35.519875, -
82.545996): Restore the stream channel to the appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry
anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank erosion; plant native riparian buffer.

2. Brooklawn Park (coordinates 35.521231, -82.541911): Restore the stream channel to the
appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank
erosion; plant native riparian buffer. Install stormwater wetland near Cedar Hill Road at downstream

end of valley.

3. Greenwood Place (coordinates 35.521573, -82.536854): Restore the stream channel to the
appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank
erosion; plant native riparian buffer.

36 of 56



4. Upstream of Greenwood Park (coordinates 35.523029, -82.534224): Restore the stream channel to
the appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank
erosion; plant native riparian buffer. Install stormwater wetland.

5. Vanderbilt Road (coordinates 35.530421, -82.544762: Restore the stream channel to the
appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank
erosion; plant native riparian buffer.

6. Rose Bank Park (coordinates 35.535715, -82.540651): Daylight existing piped stream; restore stream
channel to the appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile; plant riparian buffer.

37 of 56



7. Busbee Road (coordinates 35.542773, -82.533344): Install stormwater control measure to improve
water quality and aesthetics.

8. Ram Branch at Biltmore Estate (coordinates 35.562880, -82.556942): Restore the stream channel to
the appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank
erosion; plant native riparian buffer.

9. Valley Springs Road (coordinates 35.515482, -82.528456): Enhance riparian buffer with native
planting along road.

10. Upstream Brooklawn Lake, Fourmile Creek (coordinates 35.517263, -82.538793): Enhance riparian
buffer with native planting.

11. Upstream Brooklawn Lake, tributary (coordinates 35.520002, -82.539344): Enhance riparian buffer
with native planting.

12. Brookside Road (coordinates 35.526423, -82.542984): Enhance riparian buffer with native planting.

38 of 56



13. Golf course (coordinates 35.528170, -82.540353: Repair areas of bank erosion, maximize extents of
riparian buffer.

14. Arboretum Road (coordinates 35.528562, -82.548737): Enhance riparian buffer with native planting.

15. Downstream Rose Bank Park (coordinates 35.535041, -82.541669): Restore the stream channel to
the appropriate dimension, pattern, and profile to carry anticipated streamflow; repair existing bank
erosion; plant native riparian buffer.

39 of 56



Funding opportunities for these projects are listed below. Based on the specific details of the potential
projects, a variety of funding sources would likely be required to achieve restoration goals. Potential
funding sources include the following grant programs, most of which require local matching funds:

NC Land and Water Fund:
https://nclwf.nc.gov/
Applications are due annually in February.

NC DEQ Water Resources Development Grant Program:
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/water-resources-grants/financial-assistance
Applications are due semi-annually in June and December.

NC DEQ 319 Grant Program:
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/planning/nonpoint-source-management/319-

grant-program
Applications are due annually in May.

NC Streamflow Rehabilitation Assistance Program (StRAP):
https://www.ncagr.gov/SWC/watershed/StRAP.html
Current application window is January 24 — March 31, 2022.

USFWS Partners for Fish and Wildlife Program:
https://www.fws.gov/southeast/our-services/partners-program/
The application process can be initiated by contacting USFWS.

NRCS Environmental Quality Incentives Program (EQIP):
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/programs/financial/eqip/
The application process can be initiated by contacting the local NRCS conservationist.

NC Community Conservation Assistance Program (CCAP):
http://www.ncagr.gov/SWC/costshareprograms/CCAP/index.html
The current application window is until March 25, 2022.

Other private foundation grants available for watershed restoration are described on the NC
Department of Environmental Quality web site:

https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/planning/basin-planning/use-restoration-
watershed-programs/funding

40 of 56


https://nclwf.nc.gov/
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/water-resources-grants/financial-assistance
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/planning/nonpoint-source-management/319-grant-program
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/planning/nonpoint-source-management/319-grant-program
https://www.ncagr.gov/SWC/watershed/StRAP.html
https://www.fws.gov/southeast/our-services/partners-program/
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/programs/financial/eqip/
http://www.ncagr.gov/SWC/costshareprograms/CCAP/index.html
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/planning/basin-planning/use-restoration-watershed-programs/funding
https://deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/planning/basin-planning/use-restoration-watershed-programs/funding

APPENDIX

SHEET 1. Site 2 Brooklawn Park Concept Plan

SHEET 2. Site 15 Rose Bank Park Concept Plan

SHEET 3. Site 3 Greenwood Place Concept Plan

SHEET 4. Site 7 Busbee Road Stormwater Concept Plan

SHEETS 5-7. Typical Details for Restoration Projects Specified for Brooklawn Park

41 of 56



Ndddv

NOILdI40S3d

A3™d

Sra ‘A9 NMvdd

XX :Ad d3XO3HO

XX ‘A9 AINOHddY

COMPLETED STREAM RESTORATION EXAMPLE

r
o . -
NOILONYLSNOD d04 1LON E N2 3 g
N <~ ~
MIINGINO NV'1d NOILVHOLS3d goow 0 S o
NV1d LdIONOD g I3 = |lg g
o N PRGEEY - 2
> 598 NE FlE 2 -
: booL o X X % W
VNI'TOdVO HLHON ALNNOD 3d9NODONN4d 2 o wa 3~ 5 U
2 © =
AHdVd NMVIMO0dT - HONVH4 F1TINHNOA z 2>9 G Wou @
Z o
Z 3L 23558 =SS
S0 ~<<I O n wm
B T R A R R Y | 3. 7 kA O S B U
il lmsu“n\%\&)\\\\\%\:\\\\\?‘\\‘\\“\W ¢ w\,\i\\l\@\\' NI SR W ,/J/?\ N STRLY f///z((/ (i
\ i dlul 1\\\\ \\\\\%\\\“\\Qﬁ\\\\\\\\\h“:\\” G ‘; 3 Q}' 2,1, 1”‘5\(1 Wl < o\l 7 [ |”|$2;,“5g (
\ AR AV AR 2 LA : <)/ Rt
A AT AN bR A iy
IR TN R & nd R, \
f‘\\<}“r RN AR i\ (/4
. I\“f \\ u\ \\\\\ \\ \ \ MR LIJ 5 > q Y
\/ Wl \Kx\i\\\ AN O Y 7N
/ N 2, i
R | Y / (¢
SN > e Iz
o — O / i
| A\ — hi
i \ / W
\ BTN \ W==c 7~ ”"'I\H
J\\ AN \ > I D )] l”
IR EaY (U / = '/ se
W u\ A N — Ji\y
R N E Y R W 0 A T n
N N IR ¢y a
N//(///l,} /)/\WT\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ 5)//\‘\ @) L ¥ ‘I\L\ 3 ”/M{;\)
\ 3)///”////5«4) \\\\\\\“\\\\\\g/\< Al 0 O ’ ™~ /
%,7,5 1577, — ) LI ey W \ W, \
\ 2,200 05 = N = . ; WG
7, //(///// r\_\///ﬁﬂ»\ \ \[(\-R b LLl O ~ < (j,} \ \\\\ \”,
4//1///// ' W { >‘\\<\’N bt N\ N } fjj{,{f’{l”lllf
A ‘ N 7 I
A \ JI//;”,’J,/;" \\V”f ‘;I(
ey il
= e
-2

\

\

\ \

\ \

(e§ S = Wl
N ,}.« \\\}\\\\\\\\\\\(\’

\';;'\ \v§ &\\\\51\1 \ : ‘-\,.. &\ (’

—\

= Tl
Oeop&l P -ﬂgf I(i) H‘MI‘J\‘ [l
Y _— =/ w I |,,|f
/ —;. | E N ll,“\,\“‘\‘
L |1 °
\ Q= (IR
=S £y LU
\ I<C - 7= {
N _= _| \'w KS}>H{
L= 1
I el a‘<s‘ !
A, ol f‘}’)i'
| o' 0 “”{]' SN
( ) ) f
\ ) ’Elf; ™ o (\ffx’;{r(’
= Lo = 2 SHAN
- -/
—_—— L L\/QJ‘ nd /lﬁyfi ‘{(JI ,l”
e «5?\1 al '/( ) \ \\\f,lf( [
L N\~ de /M HII, TRy |
L \ TS I
< ‘ \\\\\\}\§\§45’{ NN
\ 2 ol :H MK\“ 1 IHXK\ \\\:\Eﬁ
> O J kJ\»\\\ ; i 9 m (H N -
| : - RN Cof 7 e - e
T S ol 2 | AN NVAS S N
2| lo|u|zlzg|<|E \ QR | KT IA a
7] —|o|- 8|2 NN\ o ==
° \\‘L\\\\\\\\\\\\\r ‘ )7t 5/// g/ X |/ //////’:\
Z EAIIRALN 2/ /[ N
o (ZD A S f;j /’////l/’l/f///f
— - —_— . & —
: BRI S5 R il
0 a9 X < SRR Vol
(7] wa {7
0z i 2 L L WL YR 1
0 O WV A ISH! p —
Z < % \ nd 13 \e SHITES
Ea O |, \ a4 W 2 2Z R3¢ \ —
x 2 S [ _ O I<T: D <O 3\
o0 R = nc ¥ Og A
- IS IS A Fai L O|—D-<(L .
W 6 2| e g el 3ol 3l = Z O 2 (1
— x| m| X = D_ \
= < o = S| o | — O \
o
€ |a|<|Z|da|2|a|e \ O.
m L nd 1
o \ n c=9F
> OIT ¥
B Sl
i —— VUV
a = -f(1)|\]|‘||||’4||"f,
| I Z V1Y 1Y
o O < P ‘
n TEQN\N QY »
m " P Z W ) N n?\/ ),}%7\'“ {l
x & < Z Wl W/ I\
= a N\ PN M o //)’//(/p/} \
% \ - I-II—J b
Z 9 & (N S S £ AL )\
g w N p s < L /}{ Iy |
T RPN < % X o TV
0 o' - - o S L j
O AR = 0 ;< 7y I
S - 20w owz < L O X ™~ 1,107 AYTR
L . \\ QO O 9 % — LL LlJ S/ '//‘/ 4 /
= O Fm Z v S f
o N < ) I\ (7’ )
59 SN\ B F2 w 3 AN )
0 1 y
= a \\ 3 28 3 m L])ﬂy/ 7 Zif 2
o ENN £ kg @ > W T
= SR\ O ro M ) N - ///4'///// SIS G AR 5%
— NN ST = Gy 15171777 "l 75
9 [ ZINN Ak o Q [, /
ok : = 0
a=Zz o ' X w
X, 8 \ <§‘: cL}J) 9]
SN : 2 ;
L N /
N Q X / ;
N/.
AN o O 170,71
é:b\\ IilJ //5//2’/ AT //’7/// //// /; -5/} 77 \\\\ W & ~ % RN
S & Wi N AW i = o I SN W0y
. _— (nag : — ~ N~ :\[G Y 4 o~
N E /,’///ﬁ/&/,////a?/?;%’/’ W, g e PN\
7 Z : R~ - _ T =2 TR A D
1/ \ Z(I ////////////éfjﬁé/&//f/// 0 f//%/ L 7 ////r',-///"f\g - //—/{..¢’}_-:7'.}.£\«'$_f,—:}':’§ —~ \\_‘\\
b S| N i NS A e Sl A A et s MW 2 )
| S| O SR A s o M2 e WY
El s QAT K P & N EEETE S TS i
| N S~ o S 2 5 E i
2 A SO el T @ a2 2 QE TS D S|
/ yf////////// } \2\ 247 0% ¢ ) SR, << W g e oo = Z o \*?W
Y Nz 7% ) . » Z '\//( > N2 D = Zplsr Tt Y kN (\,z‘
) “/ £ T—’: 7 A ”,;:‘v,—:j?/// ) O ) /ﬂ/;/ f;:;,\}’?fvri‘: ; O {\J}\l
— ((’/—4_; N—" /"/,..”/}/// L < '//{:// Vouat e LLd < I— \\ 11“1
/ (et 52 B R e 0 pa = 07T LS Ty~ ‘\z’h\)l\
({r/ e/ {/// f;.f 1 ) ,,'//J' ~ D— ;_(’ Jf(‘//::,//:'\)’: — L\\:l\ \\
) \\\([’f ¢ J < Ly ) N -7 == . A'd DR
{ 7{( P fu,{ (1w P //./ Fr/”, — Z A | ‘\\\&
Wil 7% PR — el P 4 - =20 N
TN 3y Doy /’;’//' 2 = o - 2o O O \)\[\“’}I{ |
) AX T 750 <ZE 3 T WIW!I&,}&
2L Z sl s <L X< iKY
cm =0 I<T: S i W by
N R A =R e NN S
e —_— s r .
g Sy O o 3{’;///;:” 2\ \f’r{‘iul(“ff\(i\\{t {\M\?/ N
o O izern s, W g oA \ \”k{\“?)?)l\’\\l A4
S Al B I Ll e A R T AN
ig—’/, s ez s — S~ Vip ‘\,’x P’\\\\\\ \\R\ M? -~
D T T WL
T O’ S WS N B
LAy oA il Sl O
f,/,oJ/,v ~, O -7 e m\\‘w” l
s RO B N
i e R e 2T W
G {;{,JO ® _ /
- /fm/"7/ ~ 5 - O R} ,
TN R I t /
e e i Rt sEN T~
s e i 1 g S <
'/;/_"//( S (ITJ O~ l ~
o CLh) S~
Vs )5 f -~ = ~

%
>
/z
l
<
\
%
P
z
|

|

42 of 56

| 91O TVOSAVEO 3r | INd 8€:10:ZL G202 ‘G JoquienoN ‘Aepsenl :Q3IAVS | ONVId | OMAMIIAYIAO LdIONOD LHS €0.S\OMAMEY IAISHOOHE €0.5\LSTHO THONLTIE 40 NMOL ZS\AVYI\SIAIMA AFHVHS\'O



(
| 910'3TVOSAVHD 3

o . -
- - - NOILONYLSNOD d0O4 1ON = Nk B 3,
P N N
- - - 31IS 103royd d3S0d0yd I w, 50 o
- - - = o A
NV1d LdIONOD z 3 = n
- - - DS: TN 8 N R 10 LzL 2
: : : 5 22% 3 I
‘ T A 4 N 4
- - - VNITTOdVO HLHON ALNNOD 3dNOONN4 9 Le 3 & o U
= w LA
- - - AdVd MNVY 4S04 - HONVYd4 1NOovd z 2>9 Gy ow @
Z 0O o
AYddV NOILdI¥0S3a N Gl LIS =931l < <
SFQ AGNMYHA | XX A QINOTHO | XX ‘A8 AIAOYUAY Wwa 23 S5 &
= X _ \ LI ~ W' . { ¥ TITN N 7 PR 1LY RN A% YR ALBANRAL YY) L
SR NN AR ’(”{offf\/ (o~ \\\ oy ‘\\\ \¢ \\’\h‘Q( N, % ‘l\x\‘¥\\\\\ Q‘%\‘“\“\\ \\‘\\\\\‘ \ R
= o R T L A R e N O TR R RN Vo
= T N T A T 1 N N R R R \
< SO R T O NI SR AR N
_;' ( VN QY g‘&\ LAY NN \_ I A AR M~ \_\‘QQ\\\\ ".:\_1\\ \\\3—\Q \
SR, TN WG T N AN T EAN S NsSss x Ll
M~ \\—"\ { \ \ s \ N\ ~ \ \\ 1 \\ \\ N \
AR 7 NS I IR AN HUANEN RN AR &
T / \ AR SR AN i /2 \ A\ N
A ‘é/’///z/(‘{“i\\ N I U R N RN /7 e FAR R RN DI =
~\\s\\\\§— LAY Sl O NI TN IR s ) CUAINS: <
N \\i\\(\ﬁ‘\\@fﬁ\%\\\ : G O \\/5\\‘?(‘,‘?\-) A N\ ]\ (\ "\\v/l 7y 7L\ N L \,F%“%\\L"\\‘Q >
NN WS ST SN e e 1\%\_\1\‘_1 T A RN AR L iV e -~ R, -
\ \ é‘L (( L0 \;\W "\\ ~ \\\\ J c  ~ =\ };7 g ¢ R ‘- ASY o %‘\;—'\S\ \3\/\(/ LIJ
SCONRNY  Z A NN il Z
R e Bw s, S
_—— }\V N ) 7 < _ \ !
ATTINEENG & & e >
. ! S/
B T R e N ATt L NN nd
N wl S I R N A A AN DN\ NN
- LT O T N\ D NS @)
= N R SSEI N A 2
B R N 4 = O S \\\\\ N e 77 =
| f/f// TR 0 L NN \\\\\\\\\ \ ] Ji1 e D)
Nty 4 2R A O -5 b\\\-\\\\ WS e
k i \/\\\\ TR 0 P\B}\Q\\ v g "4 L
WSO 2 0 - NN A e
N PR L ol T N NN R T Y
WL Z o SEZIT D s ijz\\ NSO W\\\{ﬂ \(\ y~7~
M 7=~ = 2D < < ., RRES WA A
N === M Z L AN )36\3\\ {\\\\\\“\\f \ s/ >
o> SN s R UIANEE O R RN PR
2o 2 £ £ s O ARy <€
W NIt N NP
|”H5[(¢7/////’;;\ — O~ >34 . 3%\\\\\\\\\\\/{1 \}\\\{ LLJ
Ny S G RO - NN
{)/)//I { | E o N : »\\.;JVRJ\\\\ \\QQ\)\?\\}\\\\\ —
= o o - NS~ /*\-lﬁcﬂ\»\ N \\\23\{ U)
® o 3 NN o
MR
7 Z =< SV B —
7 < D d N ) L
7/// - T < LL] = =N 1
~7#4 > ERSEAN
S AN, o
= \/ o7 —_ ’ \ o\l E
~ ;—L {!g \/ \r\\\\ \ A_7\\\*’ ] O
\ N g W <
NS N N NS @)
~ W \) \\k\(//r\ﬁ
~ > AN Y 1¢ N '
20 SINETD
NN
SANZOAN
\\;‘;"\%\\g?\\\
. \\\\\ |
k\éé%
§T 2 NN
~SIS =X
PN
~_ . AR
SSNAN
= “\\\\\\3
— 2 N ==
\\ \?\‘\ \ Z
SN O
NN =
z it AQ/F/Z:R\Q )
\\l ( ¢ | \—\\ Z
\* l([
NSE \'{1‘5\ Q
S 0
|
\ <
W —
W )
2. ><
’ LLI
) ‘g:&v \
ol iy W L
g L i AN O
Oa% T\\}|I“N / (,U -
4/ MM = Z
005 . \
NG P\~ DAYT )\\f <
oFa8 NG\ it e
¢ \\ >J/
‘ 5
—_—
. —Z <
>1 k(_—-—_,
I / ~
5|
I l \
I
“‘ /
__ﬂ/’\_\-—-/,_‘-\\
N =~ |
= N7 ‘
S o I :
|
|
\
== CE L ZE NS e | '\
= 7 = 2 Nk
ST /0y /¢ajf/~\}/’\~/]\\§: | “ | \
N SRR
10 RS T S |
/4 y/ /) o~ \
IO SN L |
//"’/////////,\_, ( o |
// rJ /S / \ </ S - ‘
L/ij//f&ﬁd_//"/'!} | |
DR syt
~ /J — |
(5 e oy
N J¢
i AP s
L= e gt N |
Wiy L s O
(l\“ A 2 ‘
\\g \f"’i‘—— / / \‘ |
NG SR
o A e }k A /
|
W . |
N S
i~
[
 C
// - \ \ ‘]‘ .
7\ { Q /_‘b \\3\3\ \\\ gk\ BN L /7 ‘ I \ ‘\
L} P B A RN N\ /mng\/
SN N ARSI g S sy N
¢ I < // ///||ﬂt\éﬂ\>)
v ) ( T LY
1 /0 ////lelhi f;
p (/r’///;g//;}p([h /\)
—— \
/////.l (/¢ /zfgx xkh_
2, Ny =N
/// P W 7 L
SRS RRR N W)Y
r

MNVE 3S0d ¥0.5\1S3H04 ‘EIEIOI/\IJ.'IIG 40 NMOL ZS\dVO\SIAILA AFHVYHS\:O

[a

| NV €5:12:6 5202 ‘Gz JoquianoN ‘Aepsan] :3IAVS | ONVId | OMA LIGIHXILdIONOD LHS 0LS\OMAMYEY

43 of 56



n - -
— S I 3 8
< N oo 4
N = N - u
- . NOILONYLSNOD HO4 J_Od L v, S 5
- - Z T
- - 411S 10drodd d4sodod 8 %§N e i 2 o
- - NV1d Ld3ONOD S £o§ A ERE
- - Z nZ < N~ T
- w <<, 7 NS @)
- - Nna 8 du:IIJE ool
- B _ ¢ OO 2SS W w2 Z e
- 0¥V HLYON ‘ALNNOD 38N 2,302 253
N - VNI g IINSENO4 LN ZOZ T o h o
- MNIFHO - HONVY 53058
B - HOV—Id GOO So~<a
- . ¢ 31IS —
o =
Adddv NOILdI4OS3d A3 . SURE -\\ C___ //\//\‘m\\\\ N— ~ _—
. dddv ] 1\ — —
: VHA|  XXCAEADIOIHO | XXAD AIAOMd: AT A A TR \\\\\\\\\\\‘\ \‘\ \\l\ \ f{‘“\\~—~v“\ >)\\ T
SraAaNmwa) N \\\\\\{\/*/\\\\\\‘\\(\‘\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\Q\Q\‘ \\\\\\\\ L U=
== N \ LRRTARRAR RS TR \\ NETARE [ 1
\\“\‘\.\\ \\ N AN \\ ~—7 A\ \m ) \ ' \\ \\ \ \\\\ 2 — k\\ |
~ ) \ N W Y ST AR IRETITRN VRN N - ||
= {, e e VL AN AR AR ARNR N AN TS L
oy NN WO = a0y RN | (- \ N
’ I SN MR 23 A e e K =
- & - - AR AN T B O T =
TG Y N R NCT IO N SIiR— 3
R O or )\ R—J‘*‘—-L\ \ \ VAV \\\i\ /3 TN T~
We s g =S W\ ==y - S0 LLI
/ = & \\\\\ \ AR N = AN NS al ~_ S—
g Hg -0 N\\*,\\}\Q\\\\ N4 8 e N 2 > O &E) N i —
W\ 052 O i £ FWaN g NS W e i O
AN W~z 7 \ ;\{\}\\ N 28> INN Lo w O -, SN~ =
\ by =% U VN \\\\\\WLIJ(D<E\\O_I\\\<>1>< AN IV <
l\\\\\ 2 /RN P 7|_Z|_\§:I_o‘\\\\\'ﬂ- “—O\\\\Lu::fx nd
AN QHO 88T X NTZ
O N WS- N O
= Ecn"—'ﬂ%n:‘“\\b ,:LIJD-\\:_I%’/ 5 =
N ~ ’
. - N NN I wao - s
= '8&’8&<§é<\:0§m<\‘m4\k o2
p— N N . ~ N . Z
fE ,D_OD-\\EDC‘\\S‘EEI%)§.\\::E-i\% %
N : o AN - S TT RN
o0 N E&‘\§t°<‘\icuj\\\\“’
N NN =95’ IR =
W W N o< fize S Y <
S NN RN TSRS 7 1
\ N RERE SRR AN - LL]
< AN Y 2 i
Z N LAY 0 ) Z
<Z N \\\\\\\\\\:|_'=:':.ah—" —
“ NN ="
QYN N
. VNN y¢ O N N
2, NN NN <
Py \\\\\\\\‘ L ?\\\\\‘\\ LL
5 RRASS NS —
N\ \ \\ AR \\ LL]
S AN \ N oS SO -
6 g \\ N \\\\\\ \\\
.\ \\\\\\\\ \M D—
\\\VS — " A \‘,{}/////(/l/ (N O
L 1 N
t~o T oow DRSNS AN O
~_ 7 --FEF O N S
~7 Yy — , < LN S s
. S e NN o
-///’L ~ 3 < 0 ~ \ “\ \\\\%\VE%?
=TT > W = \\\\\\\ \\\“\\\\\\l—' -3
- 0kG S i e w g
_,—_JLA/\_\ . -_ ~ W\ \\ k\\\_lwﬂ'
L - AOZ \\\ \\1 \\\\ A 28©
:——~~/\\\LIJ O <. N \Q\\\\{\\\\ECE(-D-
S el R0 INNELCE-
1 S QXPoOGe WL R 2
T - 50 OGO O O VAN~ Z
T~ 0O \ ’ (}O O ‘- SN ~—, \ O
P ~ e N 0 000 AN \
= < \\\‘|—|—11\‘\\ i //(///L\\ SN =
I A o\, 5 Y ' AN
— SN RN LN = AON RN o
- I\\—a\_\ ™ ARASRETAN \\\\ LU 2l \\\ ////’ LS A WL \ Z
RN S \\\\\\\\\\ L Z <~ ————— -7 ‘ NN |\ O
L \ NN \\\\\\ <ZE(|7)\\“\ gt /%_,/// J \ O
I N N RS A A > N TS -~ ~ S~
A T e IR
I SNSRI —RN =200 o
Ly TR NN SN\ Ny
'/\T \L \\\ \\\ \\ﬁ\\\ >ETTIRR /\\\\\\\\%’m SN Z
- \h\ 7/ ' —
- \\ RN \\\ 4 <L \\\\rI}"_JS/ L / —
\ — A\ \ \ = o
o\ \ Ny W\ Vo220 7, 7
"y \\ \\\ \) * — Z RN A | \\ \ % E Q3 I\ pd
— = \
\ \ l\ f r o\ /(j)o /7a D\llk\\ (\ng /)
\ \ 5 v /) f&i’z_lf % Z\\\\\\\\\ 9 ER //\/<> L
N 5\\ ;//H-’;/—/‘(DLU) <:\\\\\ \13$> Voq ~ I
( \ Jk\'~\k _>f‘ . |_\\\\_ \ D0 w0 '~/ ~_ s\
r\\ \ \\ l ,\\ \\§_|O//— \§§t { |dO°7\ S0 O
b 3 N ——\
SRR ARSI LeZEN L. Y 3
| | / ( \. N \\Lu (al . . ~ §>D'\\\§\\°C~l"‘\_—v <
Sl N sy = L1 SIS
/ ‘ \ / N g =z Ml S h§$§9€\:\: Y
. RN K \ AR / WU i AN SN m
\ \ 3T i SN ONESE
/1 \ \\ () \ \\\\ | r"\__,V //!Z ///,/(‘ O ) C \\\ \\\\ \’\ LIJ
) \ \ / // W NN N\ 1
wlol sy VYA S \ ’(/\)\ x A e \ T —
=
N S T A \VF’\\\\ | Hitte Vi e T\ S
( Ny WA ~
I ( 1 \ N \\ \\ \ \\\) \ e
2 AR -
\ O
[
-~ = N LL
\ (@) \
\E —
Z o -
03~
R=)
22
LIJ@ N~ T \ - =
o . 2N L R _ ' 3
o5 VNN (I SN
L3 JW(H,”'{\}‘;\H)\\ﬁ\\\ =
\og © \3,1\‘(5(’(</1\4\\)\?l Yol \
-Z \ \\l,|\<\\\\>\1\“\\‘\\\\|
| ) @ Loy (4 Vs N
= VAN T ANV R NS
L L Z RARIS R RN by AN N
o IR IR RAR k\\ N AN \\\\\\‘ N
L by b\ \\\\ \\ AN RN 5 N NN
I “ | I()\\\\\\l l\\\\\\ RN \\\\\Q\\
. ~
,—— NN ST 5 \\\ g \\\\L \\\ L\ VNN N NN
\\ o= - — \ I I\ ~7 // v / \\\ \\\\ ) \\ \ \ N A \
\\f’ﬁ/;’i"::_-:\—d?:\\\" ///f Fem) e 8” QNS \4\\A (i - ))/]\-} WA W\
M~ = === t_:—_::'—_/\_?——-;§\ -~ — / ~ ; { »
T #Z==77 RO~ A& ///(/ /q"\/ﬁ/fé o~y l\\\f \7 /\“\\i\i\i \Q\\“\\\ \ \
~+ Qs = . C S
NF ;- A s W -5 a; (! NS
N L/ I L oy 27 <)) 1 CD
\ ) - W W - \
\ & ( ‘ll\lL‘\\\ Ly
‘\L 4 ;\ \\/ W\\]l\ll e
\T / AN |/ “My )
Ni - — AN — / ,l &,
\ i N~ — ///']H\/ oY S \ (
/< \ / ~/ - .
N———~ N~N—~\ T J ( \“f)\ ( /
—\t-\/ ~ —~ —-//_,_\\ \L . /jF/
:\\L _ —‘v/:_,-\—\\“__—__ - =~
NG — — - =~ TN
:\\ -~ / - — i
N SN
N

44 of 56



LHS 90/S\OMAYILYMINEOLS avOd 339SNd 9025\LSTFHOL IHOWLTIE 40 NMOL LS\dVO\SIAIYA AFHVHS\'O

45 of 56

| 9L0°3TVOSAVHEO 3r | Wd S¥:S¥i€ G202 ‘v 1oquienoN ‘Aepsan] :dIAVS | ONVIA | OMA LIGIHXILdIONOD

AR N NN N N . ~a_. Y/ 2 7S S TR AW WP\ NI WA | A ST W, T
174 N S~ _7 AR N \ =7 Y S o~ N S —— \ \ N
\ A WS ~_ \ ) L7 N 7 / o b A |\ M~ - T N e rN\\ — ==

Y3IANNN LIFHS AN \ 2,, \ r/ N \ A . / Loy V! e~ T ——— \ ST W

\ SRR ~ S y - \ | Py T r=~ TN N i~ ¥
1334 NI 3Tv0S N \\ VN, 7/”/ NN N~ N NG i )N , | V | RN / N T ~—— /, SI“_\_\A ~—— C

]} = \ \ W\ ~ o — / [~ > -~ L\:/ { NN\ //. _ _.\\\\|||\\\

09 0 0 \ // \ ( / //rf////// N 7 ™ M , \ \/ )/ / \\\ \ I\ /(,,,,,,\\\ Vo -~ o rw\\H\\\J,./ \

N D / AR ~_ 0~ R RN A / ST - L ) AN
09=.l ) N | 4 oy WA > ~ v/ N SOy A A\ * \ _ N S o —
09=b  HXLDIWOS TN S S RN Y VAN B S A N~ AN S \SrZII =T N\
0E=u  {aoxet) TIVOS | N 0 NN T TN T S WG T O e
Geoz/viLL ‘A1va RSN N N S~ ——o < )T A\ T T L2l ) ~

\ N / N //ﬂ////,/ R ,,/ -~ S N — S — \\\\ 7 g \QW !y | \ E \ ) :s / 7 - 7 \ - /./ —
F ~ Y, N\ ///N/// ~ - ,_ AN I ~ ~— — \\ ~ \\\\\\\\ ,\dﬂ~ / T ’ \ \ J o~ \\ }/,\;J\ \ //
// ) NG // N A //////W/./[ \ A\ NTT TS — -7 _ s -7 \\\ \\\ﬂ\\ﬁ, :\ \ \ H \ :; F ( - g h L // —
~ _ - NOONN NN L Ls LA N 7 Pt AN N TR (N N o, AN ) -
o\ //J//// - \ N bl A S b B IR B WU VATH YR P , -
\ | 0 N ////// T~ /// \k _ \\\1“\\\\“ /! \\ \\\ A= v,,,, /_, ~ «\ _ e ~\ \ ) \*\
A\ - N h <\ \ - — e~ T m_ T _ T ~) UL \ ) >y
N v ,, \ /4\// NN \ - N ~~ \\ .\\\\\\\\\\w\ / ( \\\\ \ \ ~ \\ ,/ /l// \ \v / — )
N N / A= - VAN - 7 Rl \L\\ ;\\ AR AN ,N/ \_ o , ) — v
N N f NN , - J A lr ;s =" \ﬂ / Y, _« [ /,\ \! /////,\\l.u.l\\.\\\\.l \ ] ) =2
N m -\ ,, ////////NN// \ —~_7 /ﬁ/x ( \QNN/ /«»\ 4 \v y \ S /\I/NV\\\ — /\ \7/\//
/\|\ /,,,/ // = / l&./ /F \\\.T\II\\ / \ — _ \\ N ~ —
/ N /\ #///NN/ o~ - l) JW”//Nz\wm..m\\lw\\lﬁth - /f \\ ( /ﬁ / o
T~ ///\ \ ,/ S HW\H) Y e r////M\\\/\\NW\\.\\\l¢7 - P \\ —~ _\ \, K ~ B
N - ~ —~~_ T N\ — - - —_
: N \ | /N R i et AR UL AN 7~ _—— -~ / / -
2€61-d :ISNIOI ~ /v ANJWLVIH1Lddd 4d0NNY -~ - S -7 N <\ / \ / —-T
‘ N\ 7\ ,, —_— = — = - _ - ~ , — | </ I
50882 ON ‘ITIATHSY /o - — \\ g N , ;7 ) -7
IAIYA FHSY TINNVS 2 | , 7 Jasngd -~ N l__ / / S
O71d ad - | / o~
. - _ — r , / Yo7
TVLNINNONHIANT SONINNI -~ L ===] PR | o~ 4 y o
V“n(\ ) \\ - 7 A oK) / y _
=== Q LT
= (NIVN3H 01 )
-S1ddATINO X [~
_ T ’ # /, / P - N
—— = ‘J.\\\\I\.\ ~
NN, B A
N / \ AN
./f””/ / \\\ -~ \\
(- RSN NS / R /
Vi J = v
M _I_l_ \\\I\\ / \ T — ~ /r// \|\ \
Z - C B RN et
m & / PR N\ / i
O \ — \ \ Y\ _ y: S
Y Q2 h e
/ 7 N o/ /
nNu e, m m m / \\J T \\ﬁ e
— O m m 0 r~ /o /
w % O O E m ’ |M/L/,/ // /(I// \ // / /f\\ —_— 7/ \\ \\\ ~ \\ .~ /A_ A, \
r = ~ —_
229 QTo LT ~7aNTYA TYOI901093
e s T —
0od zZe =7 A3ONVHN3I ’® NOILYOIdILNY3ad
°S3%  RZo Uy | 27 404 SINV1d FAILYN INVd
w1 = AN NN T P . 7 \W s, i CT="
— & T Ok N \ N .\\Q/\\ ey \ 4 \ \
2me mw _m_a_ = |y [ AT AT A, / , , /o
— S / ( <2
SOZ 443 Lo ™y S AT \ A (NNL3HOgHY ON)
= \ . ’ - S < P
= ¢ % @) E o= 7 y (L4317 93ddN ‘OLOHd ® WvHdSVIA 33S) L 7739 NOLLNILIYOIg9 I1dINVXT
— r / ¢
nNu 3 s _m_a_ Z [ N ",/ NOILVHLTld NOILNTIOd ® 3OVdOLS \ \ ¢/
Tl / . NG |
% B M i J.\\\ ’ 440NN J04 1140 NOILN3I13d0I19 dd N ! ;o
o \ ) I r /) ! \ /
Cma8 TN 70N \ NN S N N A4
Z Z O ) N/ - ] \ \ \ _ _\\ _/g - // /
S3 /' « , YA R
A m o : / / _“ \ ,, _ \\\\ r” ) /
> o ! _ v ) L I
Zm oL , ) , \ VoAl vy /S
o=z ' U\ % , V) /
m3 | / \ | N\ /! S
,~ N \ \ / \ \ [ \ ~ // /| |
5 3 \ \ N~ \ \ \ (RN ~_ N~ | \ / /
m| T _ N\ \ \ \ \ N \7 = J
< 3 /L , ( / ! oy NN O N
3 \ ,v /‘ | / ~ N b /_ \ N \\\ ,\ / v [
O % | { \ \ \
=\ — N S T A B U O Vo
RN ST Sy
f \ /,,// N / ) ) / / _ / \
-~ ,
o m ) _ ¢ N/ r/ \ ~ ,v ,\ \\ \\ V/\\/f / \ﬁ \ A / |
@ 2 \ (] N \ VN I\ <) / v <&y ( ////T/ ) [
285\ | b ~ | \ / v \ A \
28\ IS . NN s I Y
K , ¢ ) \ 1, -7 , IS \
3 < \ { J NI \ \ | / / Ve s / | | N\ /r {
z | % \ |11 / v N \ \ /i ;- , NN
X - (1) N \ N \ \ \\( , / o~/ \ . ~ / VN
// ik /./ y // N // v/ # :N_ﬁ \/ // \ A/ \ ]\
2 \ N T AT NN N KN / OO OO NN N
2 | " ~ ~ \ _ k - =] VY
= NS~ N N A Y P ~ZT000
3 ( N ~ N \ \ 1N\ / ~
- _ - \ N Ny b r S AN AN
@ 1 SN N oy U RRARE
3 0 l S R \ ~ T v AVHOVIA 1730 NOILNILIHOId
< \ A _ / / { \..:._N / (1 [y o | T

INd 21:9%:€ G202 ‘¥ JoquianoN ‘Aepsen] :d31107d |




q
H3GNNN 133HS

341vOS Ol 10N

S1IN (WL IXuZL) 3TVOS
S1IN (,22X. ) ATVOS
G202/S2/L 1 :31va

¢e6l-d -:4SN30I1
G088Z ON "ITTAIHSY
dAI4Ad FHSY T3NNVS £

oT1d

“IVLNIWNOYIANI SONINNIP

NOILONHLSNOD d04 LON
S1IV13d NOILVHO1Sdd INVIH1S
NY'1d Ld4ONOD
VNITOYVD HLHON ‘ALNNOD I9INODNNY
AHVd NMV'IXMOO0HE - HONVYYEE 3 TIINGNOA
NOI1LVHO1Sdd NVIH1S HONVHY FTINGNOA

("013 ‘d31S 901 'INVA

MOOH- - '©3) IHNLONYLS WYIHLS-NI Y3FHLO OLNI JIL AVIN LNIOd TOYINOD IT1ddid 40 ANT JHL -

‘NOILONHLSNOD
Ol TTVINZAIONI d343dISNOD 39 TIVHS ANV S3dNLONYLS NVIHLS-NI 40 NOILVTIVLSNI ONIMOT104

d3diNd3d 39 AT TTIM  NIVIdAOOT4d/HONIE TINAMNYE ANV T3INNVHO 40 ONISS3HA-3Y

‘d3LVOIANI SNOILVATI 1
aNV S3avdo JHL 40 14 1L'0 NIHLIM 39 TIVHS SNOILVAIT3 1d3ANI d04 HSINI4 40 33493d
IHL "SONIMVHA FHL NO NMOHS SNOILYATTI ¥O SNOILOIS-SSOYD ANV ‘SIAVHD ‘SANIT IHL HLIM

JONVAHOOJV NI I0V4dNS LOVANOD V OL d3HSINI4 39 TIVHS 3dN1ONdLS SIHL 40 30V4dNS 3JHL -

‘SYMNV4E H0 WOLL1Od TANNVHO 3HL NI d3ldNg HLONTT dI3HL 40 €/1 ONIAVH A9 HO
‘SMO0Y ‘SO0T YIHLO 40 LNINIDVId HLIM AIHOHONY 39 TIVHS SO0T 'ILVHLSENS I 14419 AIHSINIS
dH1 IA0GV .9 - .} IANHLOHd TIVHS TVIHILVIN ADOOM 'JONVHOX3 OIFHHOdAH ANV ALISH3IAIA MOT4

JONVHN3T OL 31vd1S9dNS F1441d IHL OLNI d3LVHOFLINI 39 TIVHS 3ZIS NI 46 - «€ TVIHILVIN AQOOM -

MOT4 LNITNGYNL ANV ‘ST00d ‘SdOYAd "V 1NDIYHI TTIVINS FLVIHD SHO0H ANV
SOO0T FHL TANNVHO WVYIHLS FIHL NIHLIM "HANNVIN A3ZINVOHOSIA V NI 31VHL1SENS T3AVHO ANV

379900 NI d3Ad3agNT SY3ATNO0g ANV ‘HSNYE ‘'SDO0T DYV 40 LSISNOD TIVHS IVIMILVIN 37441

%0€ - 9 SSVTO LOAON e
%0/ -1 SSV10 LOAON e

‘SNOILVOI4ID3dS VIHALVIN 314419 LVLIGVH A3ONVHNI -

ANNINININ V OL 1d3M SI 1VIH31VIA 3HL 40 LNJW3TL13S FdNLind LVHL
HONS L13axONg "HOLVAVOX3 NV ONISN d3LOVdNOD 39 TIVHS IVIH3LVIN I1441d 'INOLS d3lddvNO

40 ONILSISNOD VIHALVIN F14d4Id HLIM d3T1iaMova 39 TIVHS S3T44d1d LVLIgvH d3ONVHNIT -

'NNY IHL OLNI "O'd 3HL 40 s/a P¥m £ 40

WNNINIA V ANV 3d119 3HL OLNI "L'd 3HL 40 S/N P8 £ 40 WNWINIW ¥ ANTLX3 TIVHS TVIM3LYIN 31441

‘31140dd d3SO0d0dd dHL NO NMOHS
SNOILVATTE FHL Ol VIHALVIN 31vdLlSdNsS F144lid d314103dS 3HL HLIM HONIHL 3HL 1114M0vd

ANV 17441 IHL 40 HION3IT IFHL FLVAVOXT ¥3IAO TIVHS HOLOVHINOD FHL ‘NOILVTIVLSNI HO4 -

SNOILVYII4103dS 1441 1V1IgVH d3ONVHNS

1441y 1V1I9VH d3ONVHNSE

37vOS Ol 10N

.4 - 9 NOILDO3S d31iv1i3d

S31O0N d3d
VIHE1VIN
314414

0°C 'NIN
VIHILVIA 31441

HON3YL 37441
OLNI ONILLVYIN A3H

430d71N049/3199020

TINAMNVE S1d93d AAOOMW/SOO0T
IVIHALVIN 31441d IA0GY W9 -l

ONILLVIA TOHLNOD NOISOdH3

31vOS Ol 10N

.V = V NOILDO3S d31iv1i3d

NOISNYHLO"d 49 - ul
IVIHALVIA 314419 OLNI AIXNHOM
HSNHE ANV V43 LVIN AQOOM

IVIYILYIN
y 37441y

\\\\\\\\\\\\ RO ,
A ARSI \\\\\\\\\

; < v v
NNY 0’ @ \\\\\\\\\\W\\\\\W\\\\W\\\\\\\\\\\\\\
37140¥d ¥3d QNNW y -
NOILVAZT3 'O'd ITHoNT TR ——
4044 434 mm:m<> 3d0O1s 37
700d0OdDIN 441y 3171404d 43d

NOILVAI13 'L'd

TINAMNVE

31vOS Ol 10N

NVid d31ividd

NV1d d3dd

JOVLS TINAINVE ) @
3d401S 40 30L o071 T00dOHDIN
MNVEAVIYLS —  WNIGIN/IDUYT— [
) \
43 4 Nv1d ¥3d
NOILY1S "0'd D NOILV1S "1'd
\w <=’ \\OT4 /
I =
Y Iv

mv*m>>m.z__>_
z:mokz_._<_mm;<_>_ \
374419 AN3ILX3

Jhaies ok

/

NV1d d3dd

SAVA HLONIT I1441d

PE €Ny 3AINO

/ OLNI TYINILYIN
3714414 AN3LX3

—

BI

A3™d

XX :Ag9 d3IAOHddY

NOILdI40S3d
XX A9 d3aXO3HO

Sra -Ag9 NMvdd

Ndddv

‘NV1d NOILV13O3IA-Id AINOHddV IHL NO NMOHS SV
NOILV1IO3IA ANV ONILNV1d AQOOM TIVLSNI MNVANVIHLS FHL 40 ONIAVHO ONIMOT104 d3dINO3

SI ONIHOTNIN ANV ONIA33S ININVINHId ANV AHVHOdNTL HLIM VIEVY YHdOM 3IHL 40 NOILVZITIavLs -

‘SONIMVYHA
3HL NO NMOHS SNOILVATTI O SNOILOIS-SSOYD ANV ‘SIAVHD ‘SANIT IHL HLIM IONVAHOIIV

NI 3OV4dNS 1O0VdNOO ANV HLIOOWS V OL d3HSINI4 39 TIVHS 3FdN1v3d4 SIHL 40 30V4dNS 3IHL -

'41ISNO

d33NIONT 3HL A9 d31034IA SV 110SdOL IHL NI d3T1VLSNI 39 AVIN 3LISNO 19V I1IVAVY SINVIdSNVHL -

"J1ISNO H33NIONT 3HL A9 d31034Id SV SINVIdSNVHL

3AIT TIVLSNI ‘NOILVLIDIA-IH ANV ONILNVId ¥O4 I19VLINS LON SI IVI¥ILVYIN MNVENVIHLS 4l -

J1ISNO SV3dV d31VNOIS3d
NI d30V1d ANV d3TNVH 39 TIVHS TVIH3LVIN d3LVAVOXT TV 'VIEV ONIANNOHINS FHL ONIHOLVIN
S3AVYO ANV SNOILVATITI FHL OL (43.L1v1d HO) 3dO1S L0l V OL ONINOILISNVYL L€ 1V 3dO1S 40

301 ONILSIX3 FHL NOY4 MNVE HAAIY FHL IAVHD TTVHS HOLOVHLINOD IHL ‘NOILVLININITdNI HO4 -

"J1ISNO H33NIONT 3H1L A9 d3103dId SV J0 d3d33AN
SV S3HNSVIN TOHLINOD NOILVLININIAIS ANV NOISOd3 TTVNOILIAAY ONISN Ad 31dVOILOVHd INJ1X3
NNNIXVIN 3HL OL SHILVM IOV4dNS INIDVrAVv Ol ININIAIS 40 1d0dX3 3IHL FZINININ TIVHS

HOLOVHINOD 3HL 'SNOILIANOD ONIMHOM AdA ONIHNA F0V1d IHVL TIVHS HHJOM ONIAVEO MNVE 11V -

SNOILVII4103dS ONIAVEO MNVANVIALS

ONIAVYO MNVANVIHLS

31vOS Ol 10N

vV = V NOILDO3S d31Ivi3d

JOV4HNS 3LV
MO14 MO ONILSIX3 NOHA
YNVEAVIELS ONILSIX3 3AVdO —

'J1ISNO d33NIONT 3HL

A8 d310341d SV SINVIdSNVHL
T3ANNVHO

ONILSIX3

IAIT TIVLSNI "ONILNVId ANV
NOILV1IO3IA-Id 404 I19VLINS
1ON SI IVIH3LVIN MNVE H3AIA

41 7110S 40 uv - ¢ ONINISOOT

A8 30V4dNS T10S FHL J4Vd3dd

13SM MOTd MO

(¥3L1V14 HO) NMOHS

3dO71S 1V ANNOYO ONILSIX3

‘SUNVAANVIHLS d394dn.1sia 11v

NO d33NION3 3HL A9 d31034Id
SV SINVIdSNVYHL JAIT J0 ONILLVIA
TOHLNOD NOISOY3 TIVLSNI

Ol ONIAvydO dNT1d

NVid d31ivi3dd

SYUNVE WV3HLS d3ddN.1sSid
11V NO ONILLVIA TOHLNOD
NOISOd3 TIVLSNI

L:0l 1V 3AVEO

ONILSIX3 oL 3L |

NV1d d43d SIIHIVA HLONIT
ONIAVHO MNVANVIHELS

<4+= MOT4

\\\ 3d0O1S 40 301

ST1IvV13d ANV NV1d NOILVYL1IO3IAN-I
d3dd SONILNV1d LO0H3dve
~— ANV S3IMVLS IAIT 40 SMOY 13S440

NV1d
33S

S31NA3IHOS ANV ‘STIVL3A ‘NV1d
NOILV13O3IA-Id d3d SONILNV1d
100d3dvd ANV SIMVLS Al

LHS €0.5\9MAMYVd 3AISYO0Hd £025\LSTFHOL IHOWLTIE 40 NMOL LS\dVO\SIAIYA AFHVHS\'O

| 910'3TVOSAVED 3r | Wd 60:70:2L GZ0Z ‘GZ 1equanoN ‘Aepsen] :3AVS | ONVIA | OMA'STVLIIANYIHLS

INd 2¥:G0:Z) G20T ‘G JoqwanoN ‘Aepsen) :g31107d |

46 of 56



9
HIGNNN LITHS

341vOS Ol 10N

S1IN (WL IXuZL) 3TVOS

S1IN (,22X. ) ATVOS
G202/S2/L 1 :31va

¢e6l-d -:4SN30I1

G088Z ON "ITTAIHSY

dAI4Ad FHSY T3NNVS £

oT1d

“IVLNIWNOYIANI SONINNIP

NOILONHLSNOD d04 LON
S1IV13d NOILVHO1Sdd INVIH1S
NY'1d Ld4ONOD
VNITOYVD HLHON ‘ALNNOD I9INODNNY
AHVd NMV'IXMOO0HE - HONVYYEE 3 TIINGNOA
NOI1LVHO1Sdd NVIH1S HONVHY FTINGNOA

‘NOILONYHLSNOD
Ol TTVINZAIONI d343dISNOD 39 TIVHS ANV S3dNLONYLS NVIHLS-NI 40 NOILVTIVLSNI ONIMOT104
d3diNo3d 39 AT TTIM  NIVIdAOOT4d/HONIE TINAMNYE ANV T3INNVHO 40 ONISS3HA-3d 0l

"H33IANIONT FHL A9 d3AOHddY J0 d31LVIIANI SNOILVAT TS
ANV S3AvyO 3HL 40 14 L0 NIHLIM 38 711VHS SNOILVATT3 404 HSINI4A 40 33493d JH1 'SONIMVYHd
IHL NO NMOHS SNOILVATTI HO SNOILOIS-SSOYD ANV 'S3AAVHD 'SANIT IHL HLIM IONVAHOIIV
NI FOV4dNS LOVdNOD ANV HLOOWS V Ol d3HSINI4A 39 TIVHS Fd4N1LONY1lS SIHL 40 30v4dNS 3HL 6

“1IV13d ONILLVYIN TOHLNOD NOISOdH4 33S "SUNVE d3aAId d394Nn1sid
11V NO ONILLVIN TIVLSNI ANV V3V ONIAVEO MNVE HLVINIG NI ONILLVYIN TOHLINOD NOISOHT AIM 8

"d33IANIONT JHL A9 d3103d1A SV L4117 TI0S F0V1d3d AVIA 3LIS-NO 19V I1IVAV SINVIdSNVHL JAIT £

'@3SN 39 LON TTVHS SIVIYILVIN A3SVE OILSV1d YO SOILSY1d
ONINIVLNOD ONILLYIN TOYLNOD NOISOHT "SNOILIANOD ILVNITO TVINHYON ¥3ANN I1gvavyo3aaold
39 ANV SIVIY3LVIN ANV S¥3dld TVHNLYN %001 40 3IAVWN 39 TIVHS 1417 110S Y04 a3sn
S10NA0Y¥d TOYLINOD NOISOH3 (43NN LIMNV1E TOH.LNOD NOISOHT JAN/O 0Z2€ ANV (43LNO) ONILLYN
10D ,A/D 002 :ONILLYIN 318vVAvH9O3A0IF 40 SHIAVYT OML 3SN TIVHS L1417 110S "HOTNW ANV SNIA33S
ININVINEID ANV AYVHOdINTL ‘NOILYHYdIHd TI0S 11V 3ANTONI TIVHS S1417 °'SSINMOIHL .0'L d330X3
L1ON TIVHS 1417 110S IHL "IOVLS TTINAMNYE THL OL dN SONILLND JAIT IHL IA0GY L4117 110S TIVLSNI 9

‘NV1d NOILV1IO3IA-IH IHL
NI SIMVLS JAIT 04 d3I4103dS S3103dS IHL 40 39 TTVHS SONILLND IAIT "141T7 TI0S IHL A9 A3H3IAOD
39 T1IM ONILLND 3IAIT HOVI 40 H3ANIVINTY IHL ANV d3SOdX3 39 TIM ONILLND IAIT HOV3
40 1004 I Ol S3HONI 9 ATALVINIXOdddVY LVHL HONS S1417 110S N3IIM139 ANV ISHNOD ONITIATT
10SHOL ANV 13AVHED IHL NO "0°0 .02 WNINIXYIN 1Y (HLONAT ¥ "NIA) SONILLND IAIT 40 ¥IAVTIOVId 'S

"A3TIVLSNI FHV 1417 T10S ANV SONILLND
JAIT FHL 340439 SH3A1NOod IA0GY A3 T1VLSNI 39 TIVHS T110Sd01 ANV 13IAVEO d3LVAITOSNOONN ¥

167} NVHL 431349 ON 39 T1VHS SLINIT NOILVAVOX3 1V 3d071S '€
"1'd 3HL ANOA3Z .00} "NIN I1441d NVIHLSNMOQA IHL OLNI AN31X3 TIVHS dOOM 301 ¢

"'SONIMYHA FHL NI STAVED ANV SNOILVAITT 'SANIT OL TVIANTIV ANV
IVIH31VIN AQOOM 40 "3AVT dSN3IA V INHO4 OL TIAVEO ANV 110S d3IXIN O WNIANTIV 40 d3AV]
V H1IM d343A00 ANV 13MONg JO1VAVOX3 3HL HLIM d31OVdINOD 39 T1VHS 1417 HOV3 'S14I7.0°)
NI A3TIVLSNI 39 TIVHS TVIH3ILVIN AQOOM "d33NIONT FHL A9 dIAOHddY 39 OL1 FdV SIVIHILVIN 11V
'SId93A ANV TVIH3LVIN AQOOM 3NIH4 HLIM d3717114d 39 TIVHS SAIOA 394V W¢l OL 41 INOd4 "4313AVIA
NI ONIONVY SI¥93d AQOOM ANV SIHONVYHE DYV ‘'SO0T 40 LSISNOD TIVHS IVIYILVIN AQOOM L

SNOILVYOI4103dS 14117 T110S HL1IM NOILO310¥d dOOM 301

NVIHLSNMOA JLVINIXOHddY /

‘AF13 Ld WWYIH1SNMOA IA0aV
G0+ = TVI4d3LVIN ADOOM 40 dOL

319vAvEO3d0I9 40 SH3IAV
OML 3SN T1VHS S1417110S

1411 110S HLIM NOILDO3103dd dOOM 301

37vOS OL 10N

Y -V NOILD3S d3Aivi3d
(,0'0L NIN)
IVIYILVIN
Hld3a 100d XVI\ A \\Em\vw@ u\hu\I\E@\\ y
1V om_m_\,_<mm:m|/ S \\\ e\
>MI_M |_|n_ v \ \/\//W«VAW\\.\.._.“ u.‘r\.\..“. 2 /\ \\
e s e S14I
BT Y / 0’} NI G3TIV.LSNI

IVIH3LVIN AQOOM

Sy o

sz ? ; ’ TI4x0ve
710SdOL ANV e 4 /7 a3LOVdNOD
TIAVHO Q3LYAITOSNOONN IN\H“W\\ 2
A&>|_|v wwz_n_:_uDo m>_l_ V\\ S \\ :@Ml:@—\ X:NX:N
, INVLS AOOM
"(43NNI) XVIN .0} _\\ .
13XNV19 TOY.LNOD NOISOY3 - - .Mw_r_\,_v_m/_*w_o_Z><oxm_

/O 02€ ANV (431N0) ONILLYIN "

d100 N/O 004 “ONILLVYIN

JOVLS TINAMNVE
(‘dAL) SONILNVY1d

100d F4Vd ANV SIMVLS JAI

31vOS Ol 10N

NVid d31ivi3dd

TINAMNVE

aN349 3AISNI NO dv4g LNIOd

N

</
\J

9
b

VIH3LVIN
AQOOM

N\
wavA
Y/

v

‘G 410N 33S

(‘"dAL) SONILLND IAIT N7

. S N e me%%/\ﬂw, =
XVIN.0'C ,, MWl e T
{ AN 4&%/@4& SN N
L X 2B, S NN SN )
. 7\ , ‘ P SO S NS DA\ \\»U\
Vi A et S
AT SN V=Y
L bz!h’#/ J.ﬁ hw“.' U{’ NV/ 4 v
, ,QMM@W/QN \ X
< SAA 4
' A S
J A

(‘dAL) SONILNVY1d LOOH
34V9 ANV SIMVLS IAIT

) \W\\\‘ ,nm".'v.w- 4\“
B VLG
m/w%mwhwﬁmmyw

SN

CS <) A/d, .&vé /A.svka.sc 6 j S

JOVLS TIN4IMNVE

nm/v
N\ Ol L4dIT1os
\ //.r,

RN

A3™d

XX :Ag9 d3IAOHddY

NOILdI40S3d
XX A9 d3XO3HO

Sra ‘A9 NMvdd

Ndddv

‘NOILONHLSNOD
OL TVLINZIAIONI d343dISNOD 39 TIVHS ANV S3dNLONYLS WYIHLS-NI 40 NOILVTIVLSNI ONIMOT104
d3dind3ad 39 ATIIMIT TIM NIVIdAOOT4/HONIE TINAMNVYE ANV 13INNVHO 40 ONISS3HA-3d 6

"d3LVOIANI SNOILVATTd ANV S3AavdO
dH1 40 14 10 NIHLIM 39 T1VHS SNOILVAITI 1H3ANI HO4 HSINI4 40 334934 IHL "SONIMVYEd
IHL NO NMOHS SNOILVATIZ ¥O SNOILOIS-SSOYD ANV ‘SIAVHD ‘SANIT IHL HLIM IONVAHOIIV
NI 30V4dNS LOVdINOO ANV HLOOWNS V OL1 d3HSINI4 39 T1VHS 3dN1ONdlS SIHL 40 30vV4dNS 3HL '8

"J1ISNO SNOILIANOD 1Id OL d33NION3
NOIS3A A9 d3LSNrav 39 AVIA 1Iv13d IHL NI d39140S3A SFHNLONYLS 40 S3dO1S ANV SNOISNINId £

MNVAANVIHLS 3HL 40 1NO 3ANHLO0dHd TIVHS
ANV NIV1ddOOTd IN3OVradv 3IHL 40 3AdvdO d3HSINIA 3HL MO39 39 T1VHS T11vE 1L00d 3HL 40
NOILVAZTE A3HSINI4 FHL UNVIAVIELS FHL NI NFY INVA ©071 JHL HLIVANA3IANN 71vE 100d 30Vid 9

ANINININ V OL 1d3M SI 1VIH31LVIA 3HL 40 LNJINFT113S FdN1nd L1vVHL HONS d310VdINOD
39 TIVHS TVIHd3LVIN T11dM0VE "'3dN1ONdLS IHL 71114XM0vd OL d3asn 39 T11VHS H1dv3 HLIM d3axIN
MO0Y G# INLSV ANV INOLS 39dNS 40 ANTT19 dIAVEO-T1dM V 4O ONILSISNOD VIHILVIAN TIAVED 'S

T14XM0VE ANV 9071 d3Adv3H 40 39d3 O1 F1LX3103O
NIAOM-NON TIVN "©07T ONOTV ONIOVdS NI ¢l NO TIVN NONWOD Ad3IZINVATVO a0l HONI € ONISN
9071 431004 40 401 NO J1ddv4d J11LX3LO03O TIV 3dNO3IS MOOH-T d3ATNOd ANV INVA OO0 JHL
40 H1ON317 FHILNT FHL ONOTV 1IVL3Ad IHL NI NMOHS SV d30V1d 39 TIVHS Old8v4d J711X31039
NIAOM-NON ,AA/ZO8 T IdAL LOAODN 40 ¥3IAVT V FHNLONYLS FHL 4O 3AIS WVYIHLSdAN IHL NO ¥

"d33INIONT FHL INOd4 NOILO3dHIA LNOHLIM S133HS NV1d 3HL WNOdd AdVA AVIN SH3d1N049 3HL 40
SNOILVATTE ON 'S133HS 317140dd ANV NV1d 3HL NO NMOHS NOILVATTE 1V S1H43ANI ¥3d7N049 13S '€

{31004
dH1 40 AV3IH1SdN 14 0L 13S440 389 TIVHS Sd3Ad1N0d d3dVIH "J33NIONT 3HL A9 d3103dId
JdSIMEIHLO SS3TNN NOILVANNO4L V 3dINOdd Ol SH3ATNOd d31004 A9 NIVTIIANN 39 TIVHS
SH3d1N0Y d3AVaIH "J33INIONT A9 d3IAOHAAY INOLS ONIMNIHO O MOOY V SSV10 10d ON HLIM
ONIDONd ANV d3H13O0L SH3A1N04d ONILLId A9 A3ZINININ 38 TIVHS SH43d7N089 N33aML39 SdVO
'd31d300V 39 T1IM .§°'S NVHL (1) ¥39ONOT SH3ATN0d ".0'Z SI (H) SSANMOIHL ¥3A1N09 I719V1dI00V
WNWININ IHL 60 -+ (H X 7 X M) .§C X 06 X .0€ 39 TIVHS SY3IATINOd 'ILISNO I1aV1IVAV
349 AVIN 1LVHL S43Ad1N09 40 3ISN 3HL IA0HddV LSNN H33INIONT FHL '3dVHS NI "dVINONV.LO3IY
dO IvoIgND "INOLS 1vdNLONYLS 39 TIVHS IUNLONYLS IHL €04 d3asn syY3ainog 1V ¢

FNLX31O0TO NIAOM-NON
ZdA/ZO8 C AdAL LOAON IHL 40 LNINIDVId OL ¥OI¥d IAIS NVIHLSHN IHL NO HSNHG HO/ANV
SANIT HLIM d3XNIHO 39 TIVHS S9071 431004 ANV §3dVv3H 3HL NI3aM139 STHONI L NVHL 394V
SAIOA/SAVO T1V "dN3 HOV3 NO 14 0°G 40 NNINININ V d3g9NVIH1S ANV MNVAINVIELS 3dISLNO 3HL
OLNI ANILX3 TIVHS WYY INVA 901 IHL "IOVLS TINDINVE % OL ¥ LV MNVEAVIHLS FHL OLNI 3L
TIVHS INVA JHL 40 ©071 ¥43Adv3H FHL ©0T 431004 IHL 40 WVIHLSNMOA ATLHOITS 13S440 39
TIVHS SO0 d3AVIH "{W33IANIONT IHL A9 d31034dId ISIMETIHLO SSTTINN T1IS V FAINOEd OL SOOT
431004 A9 NIVTIHIANN 39 TIVHS SOO0T d3AdvaH G140 d313INVIA WNWINIW 3AVH TIVHS SO0
‘HSNT4 AININIFL 39 TTVHS STHONVEA ANV SANIT ANV LHOIVELS AT3AILY1IY 39 T1VHS SO01 11V 7L

SNOILVII4103dS ANVA MOOH-I OO0

ANVA MOOH-I ©01

37vOS OL 10N

.9 - 9 NOILDO3S d3ivi3ad

(TUs) ¥3a1nog 907
d31004 \ ¥31004

= L \\y“\\ \\\\\
“_\x\\x“\x\\\wwwwmm\

e
= TN EE S
77 SAVA

~—H1ON31 901
s

(s)
¥3a1N09g ¥3AvaH

907140 dOL NO
d3advid 43a1nodgd
HOHONY 1V¥NOILdO

A9OVLS M9 % 01 % © MNvd
NVIHLS OLNI NV INVA

37vOS OL 10N

.V = ¥V NOILD3S d31ivi3d

©071d3aINovd

J71LX3103O NIAOM-NON
ZdA/ZO8 ‘T AdAL LOADN

JH4NLONGLS
MO134
100d 4NOIS

VIHILVIA 1T71dM0VE
319900 ANV 13AVEO

071 43avaH

/ TIN4YNYS

31vOS Ol 10N

NVid d31ividd

TIN4AMNVE /

Nz

ONILNV1d
ALISN3IA HOIH

SHL19N31 ¥3a1No9g
(€) 11Nd 334HL HO .0°0L
NIN YNVEWVYIHLS OLNI
T771S ¥3ATNOY9 ANILXT

d3H13901
ATLHOIL SH3d1N049g Lid

\ 3

AN

/

0°G 'NIN

T MNVENVYIHLS OLNI

NHY INVA AN31X3

o 90140 dOLNO
a30v1d ¥3a1Nog
YOHONY T¥NOILdO

NOILVANNOA
SV SOOTMO134
advM LOOd 30V1d

ONILNV1d
ALISN3IA HOIH

J71LX31039 NIAOM-NON
ZdA/ZO8 ‘T AdAL LOADN

J4NLONd1S dNIH3g
111d4X0vVeE 10313S

/ 10°G 'NIN A39NV3HLS
OLNI SO0 AdNd

LHS €0.5\9MAMYVd 3AISYO0Hd £025\LSTFHOL IHOWLTIE 40 NMOL LS\dVO\SIAIYA AFHVHS\'O

| 910'3TVOSAVED 3r | Wd 60:70:2L GZ0Z ‘GZ 1equanoN ‘Aepsen] :3AVS | ONVIA | OMA'STVLIIANYIHLS

INd 2¥:G0:Z) G20T ‘G JoqwanoN ‘Aepsen) :g31107d |

47 of 56



EXISTING DAM

2 2,

: \
>

A S

70 0000 2

PR. FOURMILE BRANCH CENTERLINE

200000 »

Qa
E
Zv
< W
g O
v =
Z—
<CO
o
5 N
L
4
|_
(@p)]

O

[ |

PR. UT FOURMILE
BRANCH CENTERLINE

) -
NOILONE1LSNOD 404 1ON E §g§ S
NV1d NOILVL13I9D3aNdy g ow %;;' o
NV1d Ld3aONOD g g§ = n | Q
r Yo JERPEY > | D
S T O® N o= 87T 2~
‘ g 257 SE-I | N
VNITOHVO HLHON ALNNOOD d9NOONN4 7 d“:.“}_ ¥ & 3 i
w NI
MHVd NMVYTMO00HY - HONVEd 3 TIINENOA % 2>9 LW »
N\tlddv NOILdI0S3d N3 NOILVHO1S3d NV3IHLS HONVEL A TIINGNOA 5%%%%‘3 S S °
Srd ‘A9 NMvdd XX ‘A9 darMO3HD XX ‘A9 d3NOHddY S~ O wm
0’ E \ g “
o o 2 \
> % h \\ Z, BN % \
2z \ o
= > - o ‘
é%g LT NN = |
c|7) 4 I:_) / g
a @ % S o _ i \
P ~— (q\] (4] ~ >
W o ow w / - N
8 zZ Z Z 7)) 0 N /
4o O O I 0 50 | _ % l
JNNRogdey - - |
o D < O 2 O _ 3
> O w < ™ < . "o —?;S \
< N = © & >
- E| S - Vi
of| [1© | N \ ==
20 S Yy \ A \ T L
8| b 3888 |\ £ T
\ ‘(ﬁ ; ‘ \\
|2 \
\ / S CJ\
\ ~ X o
A S, L
\/ - | 2 W a
— (x_) = \ N
ool \ \eHelioNe Y
\ I Qoo ooo Sy, O\
eSS |pooc oW o og & O
yrw oo oofiic oo | Y g \\\ 4
T poocogpoccd 2 A oM
| ( oo o dillo’o o W
\ //noo A
I @ - T - - — 7 SAN
\ |Z __\SA_N— ///
| | 7 |
| @y |
| \
\ ///—/' J.0 0 0ONX ‘
N \ o NS
\ oo olillb & o
\ \ 000 d 0660
\ sieNel U h¥e @O |
oo giifio o &4
\ oo ik oo | —
O 0 O\ O O L
‘ \ oEeRe) O 0 B A X
\ o0 0NN 0 0 ¢ &\
20 0 0.0 NN O —
O 00NN 09 N
| > ofolioNe ||| lefel Ll
) 000 ‘OO | d
Cx = goo diifloo o | 8
. co ol ook
,///”/’//’/7 L~ 000 w S
—~ > 0 OC XSS /
o | It l <§E/
> O | L=w
|_ —_—
v/ x WS £=4d |
L > 0 o™
Q %& | \(/ELL%/
= | = O | xOg
o UJb OZCD
o) N ™ 052
LL d xOZ)\
) O Q0 Q | mkEao
< TN
oY \\ l A
< AN
CRO /O \
0 @ OO0 \ /
0 O 4

/

INd €G:G0:Z) G20T ‘G JoquianoN ‘Aepsen |

‘@3L101d | | 9L0'3TvOSAVEO 3r | INd 02:G0:ZL

48 of 56

G20z ‘Gz JaquianoN ‘Aepsen] :Q3AVS | ONVId | OMA'NVIdONILNY1d LdIONOD .

LHS €0.5\9MAMYVd 3AISYO0Hd £025\LSTFHOL IHOWLTIE 40 NMOL LS\dVO\SIAIYA AFHVHS\'O



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
FEBRUARY 10, 2026

AGENDA ITEM H-1

CONSIDERATION OF ADOPTION OF STREAM

TOWIN of Vil RESTORATION MASTER PLAN
il micie

75

Background

The Board received the formal presentation and report from Mr. Greg Jennings regarding the stream
restoration master plan. As a means to formalize the Town’s acceptance of this plan, staff requests
formal approval by the Board of this plan.

Recommendation

1. Adoption of Stream Restoration Master Plan

49 of 56



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA ) TOWN OF BILTMORE FOREST
) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

COUNTY OF BUNCOMBE )

skskskskskskskok ok ok sk ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ke ok sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk ok sk sk ok ok ok sk sk sk sk ke ke ok

RESOLUTION 2026-01

skskskskskskok ok ok ok sk ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sksk sk sk sk sk ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ke sk sk sk sk

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE TOWN OF BILTMORE FOREST STREAM
RESTORATION MASTER PLAN

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Biltmore Forest recognizes the
importance of healthy streams and riparian corridors to water quality, flood resilience, ecological
integrity, and the long-term protection of community and natural resources; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Biltmore Forest experiences ongoing challenges related to streambank
erosion, stormwater impacts, aging infrastructure, and increasing frequency and intensity of storm
events; and

WHEREAS, the Town has undertaken the development of a Stream Restoration Master Plan to
assess existing stream conditions, identify priority restoration opportunities, and establish a strategic,
long-range framework for stream and watershed improvements within the Town; and

WHEREAS, preparation of the Stream Restoration Master Plan was made possible through grant
funding provided by the North Carolina Land and Water Fund, and the Town of Biltmore Forest
appreciates the State’s investment in local planning efforts that support water quality and natural
resource protection; and

WHEREAS, the Stream Restoration Master Plan provides guidance for prioritizing projects,
pursuing future grant funding, coordinating with state and federal agencies, and integrating stream
restoration efforts with the Town’s stormwater management, capital planning, and land stewardship
programs; and

WHEREAS, adoption of the Stream Restoration Master Plan does not establish new regulatory
requirements, but serves as a policy and planning document to guide future decision-making and
investment; and

50 of 56



WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners finds that adoption of the Stream Restoration Master
Plan is in the best interest of the Town of Biltmore Forest and its residents;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of
Biltmore Forest that:

1. The Town of Biltmore Forest Stream Restoration Master Plan, dated January 20206, is hereby
adopted by resolution as a guiding policy and planning document.

2. The Stream Restoration Master Plan shall be used to inform future capital planning, grant
applications, intergovernmental coordination, and prioritization of stream restoration and watershed
improvement projects within the Town.

3. Adoption of this Plan does not obligate the Town to undertake any specific project, and
implementation shall be subject to the availability of funding and separate authorization by the
Board of Commissioners.

4. The Town Manager and staff are authorized to take actions consistent with this resolution to
advance the goals and recommendations of the Stream Restoration Master Plan.

This, the 10" day of February, 2026.

George F. Goosmann, III
Mayor

Attest:

Laura Jacobs
Town Clerk

51 of 56



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
FEBRUARY 10, 2026

AGENDA ITEM H-2

CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL FOR TOWN

TO\X{NOf s MANAGER TO APPLY FOR GRANT OPPORTUNITIES
l/ifﬁ?ﬁ%@ RELATED TO THE STREAM RESTORATION MASTER

cresl PLAN

Background

As the Town continues to move forward with our recovery from Hurricane Helene, one significant
focus will be on revitalizing the streams and wetlands that exist within the Town. As shown by the
Mr. Jennings’s presentation and the associated documentation, there is significant need for the Town
to embark boldly upon this strategy. There are significant grant opportunities available for this work
and staff requests permission to apply for these grant opportunities as they become available.

Recommendation

Approval for the Town Manager to apply for grant opportunities related to the stream restoration
master plan.

52 of 56



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
FEBRUARY 10, 2026

AGENDA ITEM H-3

REVIEW CITIZEN REQUEST REGARDING OFF-

TOW N/ LEASH DOG ORDINANCE

i/l 100 re
cresl

Background

During the December 2024 meeting, resident Walker Kehner asked the Board to consider allowing
dogs to be off-leash if they were certified to be under voice command and had other certifications
indicating they met certain training standards. Staff indicated they would review Mr. Kehrer’s request
and provide information to the Board regarding the request.

Current Ordinance

The Town’s current ordinance is straightforward and requires all dogs to be on leash when off their
private premises. This includes parks, public spaces, and roads. Per the Board’s direction at that
meeting, staff reviewed other municipal ordinances where something similar to this is allowed.

§ 90.36 RESTRAINT OF DOGS.

(A) Every person owning or having possession, charge, care, custody, or control of any
dog shall keep such dog exclusively upon his or her premises; however, such dog may be off
premises if it is under the physical control of a competent person and physically restrained by
a chain, leash, or harness, not to exceed eight feet in length and held in the hand of said person.

(B) At all times dogs shall be under sufficient control so as not to disturb neighbors by
barking excessively, and more particularly after dark.

Staff Review

Mr. Kehrer provided several examples of other jurisdictions where dogs are either allowed off-leash
in specific areas (trails, parks, etc.) or off-leash more widely when they are utilizing an “e-collar”. An
e-collar is “a remote-controlled, wearable training device that delivers, upon signal from a handler, a
mild stimulation or tone to a dog's neck, facilitating remote behavioral correction, obedience training,
and off-leash control ... that serves as a "virtual leash" for managing distance.” Patk City, UT allows
dogs to be restrained via an e-collar and Snowmass, CO allows for dogs to be restrained via e-collar
or verbal command. Snowmass does not allow this within high traffic areas, however. The City of
Boulder, CO allows dogs to be off-leash in certain public recreational areas (e.g. trails, parks) when
after the dog has passed a training and certification course (once every five years). The dog must also
have a green tag on their collar indicating they are allowed to be off-leash in this area.

53 of 56



My review from North Carolina communities did not find any explicit “e-collar” or “voice command”
allowances. The most common areas where other jurisdictions explicitly allows dogs off-leash are in
designated dog parks or on beaches, at certain times of the year. The information above is not meant

to be exhaustive, but rather, is indicative of my review and discussion with other local government
managers.

Again, this information is being provided as a follow-up to Mr. Kehrer’s request from December.
Please let me know if you have any further questions or would like additional information.

54 of 56



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

STAFF MEMORANDUM
February 4, 2026

Agenda Item H-4
Street Light System Evaluation

=
TOWN of Wy 1

i/l 1200 1e
75

Background

The Town of Biltmore Forest owns and operates a network of 66 streetlights throughout the
Town. Most of these lights were installed about 100 years ago shortly after the incorporation of
the Town. The lights are very decorative and unique by today’s standards, and were originally
manufactured by General Electric during the 1920s. Over the years, the lamps have been
modified and repaired as needed, including replacement of all of the original glass panels with
plexiglass panels, updated electrical components, and replacement of all the original porcelain
street names with Department of Transportation compliant signage.

Our specific lamps, the “GE - Novalux Form 19 Large Pendant Lantern” and related poles are
made with cast iron bases, galvanized steel poles wrapped in copper tubes embellished with solid
bronze castings and finished with a cast bronze lamp head, have been out of production for
decades, and the original manufacturer no longer supports them. The last time street lamps were
needed (I understand this to be during the late 1980s), a local manufacturer was hired to create
new molds that allowed them to cast reproduction lamps and lamp parts in bronze. That
company has also since gone out of business and, while we do still have the handmade wooden
molds, we have been unable to find a company willing to cast new lamp parts.

The Town does possess many salvaged parts and pieces from previously damaged lamps. This
does allow us to maintain the lamp heads themselves, but we are unable to source the necessary
materials to work on the decorative poles. Specifically, we cannot source the odd sized copper
tubing used to wrap the steel poles. This has presented a significant challenge after Hurricane
Helene, when nine different lights were knocked down from trees falling during the extreme
winds of the hurricane. We also experience routine damage from vehicle accidents that break
poles, vandalism to the plexiglass lenses and bulbs, and electrical failures due to extreme age.

Some additional factors beyond sourcing repair parts and materials that complicate the ongoing
maintenance of the lamps include the lack of convenient and safe access to the lamp wiring (the
whole pole has to be removed to access it as there is no access into the cast iron bases) the
extreme weight of the lamp heads (over 100 Ibs just for the lamp head), and the weight of the
pole itself.

The installation of security cameras throughout Town in conjunction with the streetlights has also
added an additional challenge in that the cameras are mounted to and power provided to the

55 of 56



cameras from the existing streetlights. Integrating the camera installation with all its technology
into the existing streetlight system has been challenging from an installation and ongoing
maintenance perspective.

Based on these facts (the age of the lamps, lack of availability of repair parts, difficult
maintenance requirements, and need to integrate security cameras), Staff has decided to explore

alternatives for the ongoing maintenance of the streetlight system.

Evaluation Plan

Town Staff is currently exploring three primary options for the ongoing maintenance and
management of the streetlamp system.

1. Continue to maintain the existing poles and lamps as-is.

This option will involve our continued pursuit of repair parts and strategies for replacing
the current streetlights and poles with identical (or as nearly identical as possible) parts
and materials. All maintenance would continue to be the responsibility of the Public
Works department. Note that this option may result in a reduction of the total number of
streetlights over time as damages continue and repair parts exhaust.

2. Have Duke Energy-Progress replace existing non-functional poles and lamps with new
lamps through their municipal streetlight program .
This option will involve the Town removing existing streetlights and Duke Energy-
Progress installing new streetlights from their existing catalog of lamps and poles, only as
streetlights need to be replaced or substantially repaired. We had an initial inquiry
meeting with representatives from Duke’s streetlight team on February 4", and are
awaiting their feedback and available options. Potential phasing options for additional
streetlights may be coordinated with the future Targeted Underground (TUG) project.

3. Replace all the existing poles and lamps with new, but have the Town maintain ownership

maintenance.

This option involves the Town replacing the existing streetlights with commercially
available new lights and poles. This would most likely involve the Town hiring an
outside electrical contractor to design, plan, and install the new system to our
specifications, but the ongoing system maintenance would continue to be a Public Works
Department function. This will also include an evaluation of potential phasing options.

At this time we do not require any action from the Board, rather this Agenda Item serves as an
update to the Staff’s ongoing work efforts on the streetlight system. The intent is to bring this
issue to the forefront and receive input from the Board, and then continue to provide updates
monthly at Board meetings. When the evaluation is complete, we will make a formal
presentation on all three options and ask for direction from the Board.

56 of 56



	C1-Agenda Cover Page
	C2-01 13 BOC Minutes
	E1-Biltmore Forest Report 1-26
	E2-BOC Monthly PD Report February 10th 26
	Biltmore Forest Police
	355 Vanderbilt Road Biltmore Forest, NC 28803 828-274-0822

	E3-2026-01 PW Board Report
	E4-Planning Commission Report 1-26
	E5-Town Manager Report
	E6-RevExpReport
	G1A-Memo re Jennings Environmental Presentation
	G1B-Biltmore Forest Stormwater and Stream Restoration Plan
	H1A-Memo re Stream Restoration Plan Adoption
	H1B-Resolution 2026-01 - A Resolution Approving the Stream Restoration Master Plan
	H2A-Memo re Stream Restoration Plan Grant Applications
	H3A-Memo re Voice Command Allowance for Dogs
	H4-Street Light System Evaluation



